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To Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I present to you the annual
results of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2008.

Affected by the global financial crisis, in particular in the second
half of 2008 when a number of major international financial
institutions went into trouble, economies around the world
deteriorated rapidly and consumer confidence plummeted. As a
result, demand for consumer electronics dropped and so did the
demand for and price of rare earth products. The Group’s rare earth
products operation was affected inevitably with turnover and profit
down in the second half year. Although the Group’s refractory
materials business recorded satisfactory growth in the first half
year, as the global and domestic economic environment worsened
in the second half year putting pressure on the steel and glass
industries, the results of the segment for the year declined. The
Group will seek to strengthen its business foundation during the
industry slump, which it believes to be transitory, by consolidating
its production lines and adopting different measures to reduce
operational costs.

During the year, the Group made careful strategic deployment
for its business. In October 2008, it signed two agreements via
its 95%-owned subsidiary Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth
Company Limited (“Yixing Xinwei”) to acquire the entire equity
interest of Jianghua Yao Nationality Autonomous County Xinghua
Rare Earth Company Limited (“Xinghua Rare Earth”) and Heping
County Dongye Rare Earth Company Limited (“Dongye Rare
Earth™). The acquisitions were completed at the end of 2008. These
moves are conducive to the vertical integration of the rare earth
business of the Group and the expansion of its income source and
asset base, and will ultimately contribute to the future development
and growth of the Group.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group recorded a
total turnover of approximately HK$1,364,890,000, similar to
the HK$1,385,345,000 in 2007. The turnover from rare earth
products (including fluorescent materials) was approximately
HK$618,637,000, about 13% lower than last year’s
HK$713,630,000 and accounting for 45% of the Group’s total
turnover. Refractory materials (including high temperature ceramics
and magnesium grains) brought in approximately HK$746,253,000
in turnover, slightly increased approximately 11% against the
HK$671,715,000 recorded in the previous year and accounting
for 55% of the Group total. Excluding the on average around 6%
appreciation of the Renminbi, the value of total sales was actually
down by around 7% against last year. Although overall sales
volume for the year had increased, the weakened market was not
sold on the higher margin products. Moreover, the Group was also
compelled to increase inventory provision substantially because of
the economic downturn. All these factors together led to a drop in
the overall gross profit margin of the Group from about 33% last
year to approximately 26% this year.

The Group recorded a loss for the year of HK$172,407,000 (2007
profit after taxation: HK$299,080,000). Apart from the lower
gross profit because of the deteriorating operating environment,
the loss was mainly attributable to the Group having to make
significant impairment provisions for certain major assets during
the economic downturn. These provisions included approximately
HK$22,089,000 for receivables, approximately HK$37,551,000
for inventories, approximately HKS$127,144,000 in total of
one-off impairment loss and revaluation deficit for property,
plant and equipment as re-evaluated by professional surveyors,
approximately HK$208,804,000 for goodwill impairment loss in
view of the decrease in earnings, and booking for damaged and
obsolete production equipment. The increased export tariff rates
of rare earth products, from 10% in 2007 to 15% or 25% in 2008,
also added to the selling expenses of the Group. After the new
uniform 25% Enterprise Income Tax rate for both domestic and
foreign enterprises took effect on 1 January 2008, the effective tax
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rate for the Group dropped slightly. Loss per share for the year
amounted to approximately HK12.0 cents (2007 earnings per share:
approximately HK20.8 cents).

DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend payment of final dividend for the
year of 2008 (2007: HK4 cents per share).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Rare Earth Business

During the year under review, the rare earth market was relatively
quiet in general and in the second half year impacted by the global
economic downturn. Turnover of the segment dropped by around
13% to HK$618,637,000 against the previous year. Excluding the
effect of the 6% appreciation of the Renminbi, the drop in turnover
would be 19%. The Group sold around 5,300 tonnes of rare earth
and downstream products, which was 11% more than last year. The
average gross profit margin was down from approximately 27% to
approximately 17%.

Regarding rare earth oxides, with market demand starting to shrink
in the first half of 2008, most products reported drop in sales
volume in various extent. Praseodymium oxide, neodymium oxide,
terbium oxide and dysprosium oxide that used mainly in magnetic
materials recorded a year-on-year decrease of

H approximately 25% to 45% in sales volume.

The sales volume of products sold at lower unit

prices, such as cerium oxide priced on average
below HK$15,000 per tonne, increased by more
than 1,000 tonnes. The selling prices of some
products came down as well, within a 20% range,
whereas the average price of individual products
such as lanthanum oxide, yttrium oxide and
europium oxide climbed by 28% to 63% when
compared with the previous year. Although the
overall sales volume of rare earth oxides for the
year was around 12% higher than in the previous year, because of
the change in product mix, turnover was down by more than 25%.
Regarding raw material supply, heeding the surge of protectionism
in source areas including Baotou and Jiangxi which require most
of their rare earth resources to be reserved for local use, the Group
has secured supply from Guangdong and Hunan. Thus, it has had
reliable raw material supply although the unit price of material
remained steady despite the economic downturn. Furthermore, the
unit price of auxiliary materials, such as chemical solvents like
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oxalic acid, was up by approximately 10% to 20% and impairment
provisions for part of the inventory had to be increased by
approximately HK$34,659,000 due to the macroeconomic factor.
All the different conditions led to the fall in average gross profit
margin of rare earth oxides to below 10% for the year.

As for downstream product business, demand for fluorescent
materials reported satisfactory growth in the first half of 2008, but
as the macroeconomic environment turned for the worse in the
second half year, so did the demand
for downstream products. As the
majority of lighting factories in China
are exporters to overseas markets in
Europe and the United States and the
economies in these areas went into
recession in the fourth quarter, their
production also shrank and in turn sales
of the Group’s fluorescent materials
were affected. Attributable to the
marked decline in selling price and
sales volume in the last quarter of the
year, turnover of the segment in 2008
only grew by about 5% when compared
with 2007. However, instead of coming
down, the price of raw materials for
producing fluorescent materials surged
during the year, which resulted in a
decrease of the product’s profit margin
from 35% in 2007 to 30% in 2008.

Apart from operating rare earth oxides and fluorescent materials
businesses, the Group made a stride upstream the rare earth industry
via the acquisition of Xinghua Rare Earth. Xinhau Rare Earth is
based in Hunan Province, which is close to the source of rare earth
minerals. It specialises in preliminary separation of rare earth by
groups. In 2008, about one-third of the rare earth resources used by
the Group was purchased from Xinghua Rare Earth. Given the long-
term supply agreement reached between Xinghua Rare Earth and
the local rare earth mining company, the acquisition has assured the
Group of steady supply of rare earth materials.

On the product front, the acquisition of Dongye Rare Earth has
enabled the Group to broaden its product mix. Dongye Rare
Earth is in Guangdong Province and produces and sells rare earth
metal. With Dongye Rare Earth in the family and filling the metal
products gap, the Group now boasts a more complete product
portfolio, which provides us with a solid foundation for further
development in downstream rare earth business.

Annual Report 2008 China Rare Earth Holdings Limited



10

Chairman’s Statement
F s

T35 004 T o AR I ) s T SRR SR LA
RVBH 2 2 > R T S5 A A R 8 B AR I
71% > TR K& B 4255 Bl £ 4k 12% S 14% -

Wik KPR B

i SR A% 4L | 1 T R B EBAE F RN
A bR AR R RN > H A7 B A o R Y
% s NREW TR EE > BRK
TR S 0 i % % 3 o T 2 B RS R 1B L
Ty A% SE T A TS KM ) SE S A AR R ) > £ DY
21 15 DA — 2B VR AL > PR BGAE ) AT R
AR KR R ZET B B R
KM 671,715,000 L i £ T 11% £
746,253,000 %5 7€ - R A B FHE 19
o HTHIRA) By 4% o 55 T B R
TS o BB I K SR T BRAT AT 15% THIR b > I
9 B2 AL AR R 10% 2 A » AR TR > AR SR L
B 14 67,000 ME— TR SR B~ £935,500
5 Y B 5 0 4 37,000 WA TE S5 8ET o IR T
i ) 5 1Y) B A IR R AN > — R ok
R K TR R SR Y B B 3 BT N o

WA JEM R ES A — N LT
T FEH R E T T AR R
FEE A5 B kAL ik o b T L R o SR T
AR H iR A2 B R R S Y 5
2 FMBLRAC A PTEYE > (AR R —
P T A ) B e T PR 1 B R R A A R
EH132% M 37% °

MR L ERARAT  ZRBR\ER

In terms of market coverage, the rare earth business of the Group
continued to sell mainly to the domestic market. China accounted
for approximately 71% of its total rare earth sales, whereas Europe
and Japan accounted for 12% and 14% respectively.

Refractory Materials Business

Although the business segment saw commendable growth in the
first half year, business slowed down in the second half year under
the shadow of the global financial crisis. Major steel and glass
plants in China had to cut production and that posed challenge
on the refractory material business of the Group especially in
the last quarter of the year. Thus, the total turnover from the
segment for the year only increased by 11% to HK$746,253,000
from HK$671,715,000 last year, and barring appreciation of the
Renminbi, the segment grew by 4%. Except for alumina-graphite
bricks and magnesia-chrome bricks, which selling price climbed
15%, the selling prices of other major products fluctuated within
the 10% range. During the year, the Group sold approximately
67,000 tonnes of ordinary refractory materials, 35,500 tonnes of
high temperature ceramics and 37,000 tonnes of fused magnesium
grains. Sales volume of ordinary refractory materials and fused
magnesium grains both decreased, whereas that of high temperature
ceramics increased slightly.

Regarding costs, the prices of raw materials increased markedly
with major materials like brown fused corundum and carbonated
silicon used in the Sialon series up by about 20% and more than
70% respectively. Entering the second half year, affected by the
macroeconomic situation, the prices of raw materials came down,
but because of the high prices in the first half year, the overall
profit margins of ordinary refractory materials and high temperature
ceramics were squeezed to around 32% and 37% respectively.
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As for the business of fused magnesium grains, with the furnaces
upgraded and improved, the production volume increased and it
led to that sales and turnover both reported growth in the first half
of the year and selling price climbed from RMB1,750 per tonne at
the beginning of 2008 to RMB2,050 per tonne in July and August.
However, starting in September, with the economic environment
deteriorating, demand for the product dropped and so did its selling
price. By October, the product was selling at less than RMB1,500
per tonne. The price of major raw materials like magnesium ores,
however, increased by over 30% during the year, hence the profit
margin of the business was down to an average of around 36% in
2008.

In addition to operating ordinary refractory
materials, high temperature ceramics and
fused magnesium grains businesses, the
Group kicked off the new raw material
crushing business in August 2008. Apart
from enabling the Group to improve its
own raw material crushing process, with
the new plant in operation, the Group can
also provide crushed raw materials to other
manufacturers. In other words, it has a new
income stream.

Development of phase 1 of the high purity magnesium
grains project of the Group with the investment of more than
HK$200,000,000 was completed. However, market demand for
refractory materials was affected by the global financial crisis that
hit after the Beijing Olympics. To better manage resources and
avoid loss from rushing into the business in the slump market,
the Group decided to postpone production at the new plant until
market conditions are deemed appropriate. The Group will closely
monitor the market and adjust the production plan of the new plant
accordingly.

China remained as the major refractory material market of the
Group. However, as the turnover from the Japan market grew by
more than 30% during the year, the share of turnover contribution
from Japan and Europe increased to around 15% and China claimed
an approximately 85% share.

MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS

The Group made two strategic acquisitions during the year. On 3
October 2008, through its 95%-owned subsidiary Yixing Xinwei,
it signed an agreement to acquire the entire issued share capital of
Xinghua Rare Earth. The acquisition was completed by the end of
2008. Calculated based on Xinghua Rare Earth’s audited profit after
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taxation but before extraordinary items of RMB47,469,000 in 2008,
the total consideration of the acquisition was RMB210,000,000, of
which RMB135,000,000 was basic consideration and paid in cash
in December 2008. The remaining earn-out of RMB75,000,000 will
be paid in cash in 2009.

On 16 October 2008, the Group, again through Yixing Xinwei,
acquired the entire issued share capital of Dongye Rare Earth
at a basic consideration of RMB100,000,000 and an extra earn-
out. The acquisition was also completed by the end of 2008.
Based on Dongye Rare Earth’s audited profit after taxation but
before extraordinary items of RMB25,401,000 in 2008, the total
consideration of the acquisition was set at RMB127,000,000 and
the basic consideration portion was already paid in cash. The
remaining earn-out portion of RMB27,000,000 will be paid in 2009.

Upon completion of the two acquisitions, the Group has made a
step further in its effort to develop its rare earth industry chain.
In addition, the Group will continue to look for investment
opportunities in refractory materials resources in order to further
strengthen the Group’s business development.

PROSPECTS

The economic stimulus packages launched by the Chinese
government are expected to bear results including helping to
support domestic demand in the mid-to long-term. And, as
different countries are stepping up R&D efforts on energy saving
technologies for such as energy-saving lightings and hybrid
vehicles with rare earth as essential materials, global demand for
rare earth will continue to rise. Thus, China, boasting the largest
rare earth reserves and output and trading volume of rare earth, will
gain strategic influence as a leader in the global rare earth market.
Recognising the need to support development of the industry in the
long run, the government has substantially reduced the annual rare
earth export quotas and tightened control over rare earth mining.
The Group thus remains optimistic about the long-term prospect of
the rare earth industry.

The global financial turmoil is expected to continue in 2009
affecting different industries and the overall market sentiment. The
economies in Europe, the US and Japan will hamper the business
of export enterprises in China. Although the Group sells rare earth
products mainly to the domestic downstream enterprises, with
these enterprises operating mainly export business, its business



L BB 1288 o T L IERHMRE
7 B I S0 07 B D DS W T A o
ARG 10 AR AT M TR o S R AR AR
(R R TR P TTRE e = Sy S H
— TR R EOLM R TR
0L & AR5 DU 2 B A B (8] 7
I 5 S B Ay - R A T A A B T
[ 2 ak I AT A B &F 5% 50 4 2 BLER B B At
R

Tk KA A S5 T T - ph A R A R a7
RZHE > B B P AT KR R
S > TR IS A AR B S 1 A T KA
SEH5 o MBI DI BK YR S AT SE A T K BE
VAR SR AT M R [l T > ELE A S AT
SE YT OB B 75 SR T (] A 1

T 30 7 ) ) A7 SE BB > AR SR KT SR U AR
HSEBE S > Sl ELRS 5 20 - B4R
THELA e 7 ARG T A o AR B2 [ I A B
—EERS > BN R N TE &
PR BB B SR E > DRI T
T AR SERS HG - AE BRI T -

R HE AR B A PP B T35 0 B M > i B
ARG B I 5 SR > A R R A A
AR I B SR > ASSE B R O REAE H AT
T L PR AR I > AR B R S S
REGARZE -

AR N > AR S AT T N R 2 4R T
P A AR LA g s BB e A + S A e L
By TR A A A AR [ 4 R AR
BHIC L HE 72,000 80 =AM E B
SRAT B > AL WAL AT 7oA 1Y G A
TR - R FEAFE+T A
= H o AR R B A RARAT AR A
B CH B G L HCAT 1 2 ZET 95 R S aRAT
FEEENIT AL E Lo TAr ) 14
927,036,000 ¥ 7T o FE AL AF K - AL
i N R #95,300,000 78 K 22,500,000
V5 0 Y R AT BE K o AN AR R AR AR B IR
B % VR A 49 5 1,234,331,000 # 9T - 44 A
i S AU S 11 L SR B A 4 23% o

I

Chairman’s Statement
F R EE

will be indirectly impacted. Due to the quiet market sentiment
around Chinese New Year in 2009, certain time has been spent on
researching production technologies and adjusting workflow of
the Group’s rare earth production line to prepare for the market
recovery. In the first quarter of 2009, the market for rare earth
products used in fluorescent materials improved when compared
with the fourth quarter of 2008. The Group expects the synergies
resulting from the acquisition of Xinghua Rare Earth and Dongye
Rare Earth to help alleviate part of the impact brought by the
macroeconomic environment.

Regarding the refractory materials segment, with the steel and
glass industries in the country facing tough business conditions, the
Group sees continuous pressure for the segment in the coming year.
However, it expects to see a faster rebound for the products used in
the glass and cement sector while a slower recovery is predicted for
the products used in the steel industries.

The Group will adopt prudent business strategies in combating
the short term challenges in the industry. It will streamline its
operational structure and seek to increase the utilisation rate of its
production lines. The Group is in active negotiation with a major
customer about potential cooperation on aspects in relation to
production and the technology of downstream rare earth products.
Apart from benefiting both parties, the cooperation, if materialized,
will enhance the Group’s competitiveness and business coverage.

Capitalising on its strong position in the China market and with the
support of prudent business and financial strategies and broadened
income streams and asset base, the Group is confident of its ability
to weather the testing market conditions and grow into a stronger
enterprise.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year, the Group utilised part of its capital to pay the
basic consideration of over RMB200,000,000 for the acquisition
of Xinghua Rare Earth and Dongye Rare Earth. The Group
was able to secure a three-year fixed rate bank loan in the
amount of US$20,000,000 before the financial crisis hit, thus
will have abundant capital to tackle the times of uncertainty
ahead. The Group hold cash and bank deposits at approximately
HK$927,036,000 (including deposit of approximately
HK$160,000,000 pledged as guarantee for business and banking
facilities) as at 31 December 2008. With the deposit as pledge,
the Group rolled over short-term bank loans in the amounts of
RMB95,300,000 and HK$22,500,000. The Group had a balance of
net current assets valued at approximately HK$1,234,331,000 at the
end of the year with total liabilities to total assets ratio increased to
around 23%.
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Except for the stated deposit pledged, the Group had no other
charge on assets. There was no material contingent liability.

The Group did not hold any financial derivative products.
Except for the interest rate differential in bank deposits with the
stated bank loans, it was not exposed to material interest rate
risk. Regarding foreign exchange, most of the Group’s assets,
liabilities and transactions are denominated in Renminbi, and the
rest are in US dollars or Hong Kong dollars (including the stated
US$20,000,000 bank loan). During the year, the Group was not
exposed to material foreign exchange risk because of appreciation
of the Renminbi. The exchange rate of the US dollar and Hong
Kong dollar was relatively stable.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had a workforce of
approximately 1,600 including new recruits among university
graduates as well as experienced professionals. The Group was
able to offset the increase in overhead from the acquisition of
new businesses by streamlining its human resources structure.
The Group provides a comprehensive staff remuneration and
welfare system, including a share option scheme, to motivate staff
contribution. During the year, the Group spent approximately
HK$39,894,000 on staff costs including directors’ emoluments. It
also provided regular on the job training to employees to help them
maintain professional standards.

APPRECIATION

It is the unwavering support and trust of shareholders, investors,
customers, suppliers and business partners and the efforts of the
entire staff that have enabled the Group to grow continuously
over the years. Your understanding is what we need to cope with
the global financial crisis ahead, though I remain confident of the
Group’s ability to overcome challenges. On behalf of the Board and
the management, I give my heartfelt thanks to all of you.

Jiang Quanlong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 April 2009
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Jiang Quanlong, aged 56, is a founding member and the
chairman of the Group. Mr Jiang is responsible for the formulation
of the Group’s overall business development policies. Mr Jiang is
recognized as a senior economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel
Department. Mr Jiang has over 20 years of experience in the rare
earth and refractory materials industries. Prior to the founding of
the Group, Mr Jiang had been a factory manager of a refractory
materials production plant and a sales manager of a glass and
ceramics manufacturing company. Mr Jiang is the husband of Ms
Qian Yuanying, the deputy chairman of the Group.

Ms Qian Yuanying, aged 49, is a founding member and the deputy
chairman of the Group. Ms Qian is also the chief executive officer
of the Group. Ms Qian is responsible for the overall management
of the Group and has particular responsibility for the marketing
aspect of the Group’s business. Ms Qian is recognized as a senior
economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel Department, and she
is also qualified as a Chinese Career Manager. Ms Qian has over
15 years of experience in the rare earth and refractory materials
industries. Prior to the founding of the Group, Ms Qian was a high
school teacher. Ms Qian is the wife of Mr Jiang Quanlong, the
chairman of the Group.

Ms Xu Panfeng, aged 44, joined the Group in 1987 and was
appointed as an executive director in 2005. Ms Xu is responsible for
the sales of rare earth business. Ms Xu has extensive experience in
production and marketing of rare earth products.

Annual Report 2008 China Rare Earth Holdings Limited
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr Jiang Cainan, aged 50, joined the Group in 1986 and was
appointed as an executive director in 2005. Mr Jiang is responsible
for the sales of refractory materials business. Mr Jiang has over 20
years of experience in the refractory materials industry.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Liu Yujiu, aged 75, joined the Group in 1999 as an independent
non-executive director of the Company. Mr Liu was the head of the
Rare-Earth Experts Group, Applications and Development Section
under the State Planning Commission. Mr Liu is also the executive
of China Rare Earth Science Society and deputy editor-in-chief of
China Rare Earth Journal. Mr Liu was appointed as chief engineer
of China Rare Earth Development Corporation for the period from
December 1992 to December 1997.

Mr Huang Chunhua, aged 44, joined the Group in 2001 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr Huang obtained
a Ph.D degree in Marketing and an MBA degree from University of
Strathclyde. Mr Huang is a director of China Research of BNP Paribas
Securities (Asia) Limited. Prior to that he was the deputy chairman and
chief financial officer of a listed company in Hong Kong.

Mr Jin Zhong, aged 57, joined the Group in 2004 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr Jin
graduated from the Faculty of Material Engineering of Wuhan Steel
College, specializing in refractory studies. Mr Jin was previously
the deputy chief engineer of the head factory of Guiyang City
Refractory Materials Factory.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Law Lap Tak, aged 39, joined the Group in 1999. Mr Law is
the financial controller and company secretary of the Company. Mr
Law graduated in Hong Kong with a degree of bachelor of business
administration. Mr Law is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Law was with
an international accounting firm in Hong Kong for over 7 years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Lou Jixiang, aged 57, joined the Group in 2000. Mr Lou is the
deputy general manager of the Group. Mr Lou is responsible for the
research and development of rare earth and fluorescent materials
business. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Lou was the deputy general
manager of a renowned rare earth factory. Mr Lou has over 20 years
of experience in the rare earth and non-ferrous metals industries.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr Yu Zhengming, aged 73, joined the Group in 1999. Mr Yu
is the chief engineer and technical consultant of Yixing Xinwei
Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr Yu was the factory general manager and chief engineer of a
renowned rare earth factory. Mr Yu is an expert in rare earth and
non-ferrous metals industries.

Mr Xu Jianwen, aged 40, joined the Group in 1998. Mr Xu is the
general manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company
Limited and is responsible for the operation of rare earth business.
Mr Xu has over 15 years of experience in production management
in the rare earth industry.

Mr Yao Chong, aged 51, joined the Group in 2006. Mr Yao is the
general manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Refractory Materials
Company Limited and is responsible for the operation of refractory
materials business. Mr Yao has over 30 years of experience in the
refractory materials industry.

Mr Wu Chaoxin, aged 32, joined the Group in 1997. Mr Wu is the
general manager of Wuxi Xinwei Fluorescent Materials Company
Limited and is responsible for the operation of the fluorescent
materials business. Mr Wu has years of experience in sales and
administrative management of rare earth and fluorescent materials
industries.

Mr Wang Jianping, aged 47, joined the Group in 2004. Mr Wang
is the general manager of Wuxi Xinwei High Temperature Ceramics
Company Limited and is responsible for the operation of the high
temperature ceramics business. Mr Wang has over 15 years of
experience in administrative management and sales.

Mr Jiang Jieping, aged 52, joined the Group in 2005. Mr Jiang
is the general manager of Haicheng City Suhai Magnesium
Ore Company Limited and is responsible for the operation of
magnesium grains business. Mr Jiang has extensive experience in
production management and financial management.

Mr Zhao Jianwen, aged 42, joined the Group in 1987. Mr Zhao is
the head of technology department of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare
Earth Company Limited. Mr Zhao has over 15 years of experience
in the rare earth industry.

Annual Report 2008 China Rare Earth Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate
governance practices and procedures. The Company has adopted
its own code of corporate governance based on the principles and
code provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). During the year ended
31 December 2008, the Company has complied with the code
provisions set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having
made specific enquiry, the Company confirms that all directors
have complied with the required standards as stated in the code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2008.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Company is governed by a Board of directors which is
responsible for directing and supervising its affairs and oversight
of the Group’s businesses, strategic decision and performance.
Execution of the Board’s decisions and daily operations are
delegated to the management. The Board comprises four executive
directors and three independent non-executive directors as follows:

Executive directors: Mr Jiang Quanlong (Chairman), Ms Qian
Yuanying (Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer), Ms Xu
Panfeng and Mr Jiang Cainan.

Independent non-executive directors: Mr Liu Yujiu, Mr Huang
Chunhua and Mr Jin Zhong.
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BOARD COMPOSITION (Continued)

The Board held ten meetings during the year. Details of the
attendance were as follows:

Director Attendance
Jiang Quanlong 10/10
Qian Yuanying 10/10
Xu Panfeng 10/10
Jiang Cainan 10/10
Liu Yujiu 10/10
Huang Chunhua 10/10
Jin Zhong 10/10

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as
to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of
his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing

briefing and professional development to directors whenever
necessary.

PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at
least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Annual Report 2008 China Rare Earth Holdings Limited
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PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS
(Continued)

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company
and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and
each director also have separate and independent access to the
senior management whenever necessary.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to directors for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open for
directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder
or a director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a
duly convened Board meeting.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Although Mr Jiang Quanlong, the Chairman of the Board, is the
husband of Ms Qian Yuanying, the Chief Executive Officer,
their roles and responsibilities are separated. The Chairman is
responsible for the formulation of the Group’s overall business
development policies while the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for the overall management of the Group’s business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors of the Company are
highly skilled professionals with expertise and experience in the
field of financial management and businesses related to the Group.
They advise the Company on strategy development and enable
the Board to maintain high standards of compliance of financial
and other mandatory reporting requirements and provide adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders and
the Company as a whole. Each of the independent non-executive
directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of two years. The Company has received written confirmations
from all independent non-executive directors concerning
their independence. The Board considers that all of them are
independent.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises all independent non-executive
directors of the Company, namely, Mr Liu Yujiu, Mr Huang
Chunhua and Mr Jin Zhong. The committee is chaired by Mr Liu
Yujiu. The audit committee has held regular meetings during the
year and it has reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Company and discussed auditing, internal control
and financial reporting matters, including the review of the interim
and annual results of the Company for the year.

The terms of reference of the audit committee, which are in
compliance with the CG Code are available from the Company
Secretary upon request from any shareholders of the Company.

During the year, there were two audit committee meetings.
Attendance of the directors were as follows:

Director Attendance
Liu Yujiu 2/2
Huang Chunhua 2/2
Jin Zhong 2/2

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The remuneration committee comprises Mr Jiang Quanlong, the
Chairman of the Board, and all independent non-executive directors
of the Company, namely, Mr Liu Yujiu, Mr Huang Chunhua and Mr
Jin Zhong. The committee is chaired by Mr Jiang Quanlong.

The principal function of the remuneration committee is to make
recommendations to the Board of directors on the Company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of directors and senior
management, and to review their specific remuneration package.

The terms of reference of the remuneration committee, which are

in compliance with the CG Code are available from the Company
Secretary upon request from any shareholders of the Company.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

During the year, there was one remuneration committee meeting.
Attendance of the directors were as follows:

Director Attendance
Jiang Quanlong 1/1
Liu Yujiu 1/1
Huang Chunhua 1/1
Jin Zhong 1/1

During the meeting, the remuneration committee reviewed the
remuneration policy and recommended the remuneration packages
of directors.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company does not have a nomination committee at present.
According to the Articles of Association of the Company, the
Board of directors has the power to appoint any person as a director
either to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board. The
nomination should be taken into consideration of the nominee’s
qualifications, ability and potential contributions to the Company.
The Board considers that the current Board composition is
appropriate.

ROTATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company’s Articles of Association specify that every director
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Ms Qian
Yuanying, Mr Liu Yujiu and Mr Huang Chunhua will retire by
rotation.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration in respect of statutory audit
services (including interim review) provided by the auditors of the
Company was HK$3,200,000. There was no other non-audit service
provided by the auditors.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

It is the directors’ responsibility for the preparation of financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and the results and cash flows for each financial period.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors have to ensure
that appropriate accounting policies are adopted. The financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an adequate
system of internal controls of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The Board has delegated to the management the
implementation and evaluation of the system of internal controls.
With the assistance of an external advisor, the Group has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
control and reported the key findings to the audit committee. The
review covers major and material controls in areas of financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a
poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings are contained in
the Company’s Articles of Association. Details of such rights
and procedures are included in all circulars to shareholders
convening shareholders’ meetings and will be explained during
the proceedings of meetings. Whenever voting by way of a poll
is required, the detailed procedures for conducting a poll will be
explained.

Pursuant the revised Listing Rules effective from 1 January 2009,

the votes for the resolutions at all shareholders' meeting of the
Company should be taken by poll.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

Poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board.
The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the audit
committee and remuneration committee, or in their absence, their
duly appointed delegates are available to answer questions at the
shareholders’ meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual directors.

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintain regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts
to keep them abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries
from investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

To promote effective communication, the Company also maintains
a website at www.creh.com.hk, where extensive information and
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,
financial information and other information are posted.
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The directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report and the
audited financial statements of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and sales of rare
earth products and refractory products.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 21 to
the financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Details of segmental information of the Group are set out in Note
15 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 38 of the
annual report.

An interim dividend of HK 1 cent per share was declared and
paid to the sharecholders during the year. The directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2008.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution comprise the
share premium account and accumulated profits. As at 31 December
2008, the reserves of the Company available for distribution to
shareholders amounted to HK$1,296,554,000.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results of the Group for the past five financial
years ended 31 December 2008 is set out on page 140 of the annual
report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 17 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorized and issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 December 2008 are set out in Note 30 to the financial
statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2008 are set out in Note 28 to the financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in Note
11 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive directors

Mr Jiang Quanlong (Chairman)

Ms Qian Yuanying (Deputy Chairman)
Ms Xu Panfeng

Mr Jiang Cainan

Independent non-executive directors
Mr Liu Yujiu

Mr Huang Chunhua

Mr Jin Zhong

In accordance with Articles 108(A) and (B) of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Ms Qian Yuanying, Mr Liu Yujiu and
Mr Huang Chunhua will retire by rotation from the Board at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2008, none of the directors has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2008, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company and their associates
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations as recorded in the register kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”) or as otherwise notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers were as follows:

1. ARG W Oy b A 1.  Interests in shares of the Company
A s vl AT
W BERPEE 2 JBe B ¥ H %N Nipid:a
Number of % to the issued share
Director Nature of interest/Capacity Shares capital of the Company
He R B Al 2 HEdd R HE A W 2 HE 4R 595,200,000 41.88%
(BfFE)
Jiang Quanlong Interest of spouse/Interest of 595,200,000
controlled corporation (note)
BT fRFEZ AL A 595,200,000 41.88%
(BfFE)
Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 595,200,000
(note)
A IE HaAa A 2,268,000 0.16%
Huang Chunhua Beneficial owner 2,268,000

wit -

W55 A T3 YY Holdings Limited £
f o HAWCBEITRAB YY Trust iz
FEAYYT (PTC) Limited (R4 [YYT
Limited )) Fr#FA - 152 % ALyl HE e
AR TSR TS A b T A G
BT o T S R BRI XV Z
EFERICHEL LYY Trust BRSZA o
R FESEE B YY Holdings Limited M
—iEH

Note:

These shares are held through YY Holdings Limited, the entire issued
share capital of which is held by YYT (PTC) Limited (formerly known
as “YYT Limited”), the trustee of YY Trust, the discretionary object of
which is a company wholly owned by Ms Qian Yuanying, the spouse of
Mr Jiang Quanlong, and her children. Ms Qian Yuanying is a founder
of YY Trust within the meaning under Part XV of the SFO. Mr Jiang
Quanlong is the sole director of YY Holdings Limited.
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EHEHE

HHRERE R (41 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS (Continued)

2. JARIEEA BBy - R BB By o B A A 2.
1t
(a) MAIERATRAE A
A W2 TEEL 5 B

Nature of interest/

Director Capacity

e R HE Hiaa A
Jiang Quanlong Beneficial owner
T Haa A
Qian Yuanying Beneficial owner

(b) R LA REL A

Interests in shares, underlying shares or equity interests
in associated corporations

(a) Microtech Resources Limited

%A O AT

IRty UM B BH A v B S0 W T 4 b
% in the class of

shares in the issued

Number and class of share capital of

issued shares the Company

5 S AR A e £y 70%
7,000,000

7,000,000 non-voting
deferred shares

A SERE R S I Ay 30%
3,000,000
3,000,000 non-voting
deferred shares

(b) Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited

W BERRPETL 2 By % E-yipid A
Director Nature of interest/Capacity % equity interest
AR CRCYNCIPA| £ 5%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation

Wt Note:

%5 AR 37 08 R LR RS A PR A )
R o B R
90% i 7% > Bk F 19 10% HE 75 b H 7 #F
oo BRI B AR RN

28 MR L ERARAT  ZRBR\ER

The equity interest is held by Yixing Xinwei Group Co., Ltd., a
PRC domestic enterprise 90% owned by Mr Jiang Quanlong, with
the remaining 10% owned by his son. Mr Jiang is also the legal

representative of the enterprise.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS (Continued)

2.  Interests in shares, underlying shares or equity interests
in associated corporations (Continued)

(c) YY Holdings Limited

Al B BT
H Wi PEEL 5By CET RS H JBE A v I By 2800 v T 4 Be
% in the class of
shares in the issued
Nature of Number of share capital of
Director interest/Capacity issued shares the Company
BT fRREZ LA W B 1A 100%
Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 1 ordinary share
BT fRREZ LA 51 25,000 fi 100%
Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 25,000 preference shares
R BECYNCIPA £ W A 1A 100%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled 1 ordinary share
corporation
R CELYNTPA ! £ S0 25,000 M 100%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled 25,000 preference shares
corporation
Mt - Note:

YY Holdings Limited fiY 423 £ %847 A A
HYY TrustiZsE AYYT (PTC) Limited
FrdsA o Az 2% N B T R RE S 1
e TEL L RA T L2 EHANL
Al o F RS I M BRI AR XV IR 2 E 3R
BT LA YY Trust MBOL A © 5%
BESEAEAYYT (PTC) Limited 19ME—#
Ho

PR Lo 4 g 4k i —FFANFE+ A
=B R TR B B W) 565352
e fr B 2 B Mk Tl > BEEEA A F] #
o AT AR A R BRI A A ) B
FAE > 7 2 ety ~ FR BB 0y S AR 27 455 A 5
B 2 5 A AL AT HE 2 SR o

The entire issued share capital of YY Holdings Limited is held by YYT
(PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY Trust, the discretionary object of
which is a company wholly owned by Ms Qian Yuanying, the spouse of
Mr Jiang Quanlong, and her children. Ms Qian Yuanying is a founder
of YY Trust within the meaning under Part XV of the SFO. Mr Jiang
Quanlong is the sole director of YYT (PTC) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, none of the
directors or chief executive of the Company and their associates
had or was deemed to have any interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations as recorded in the register kept under
Section 352 of the SFO.

Annual Report 2008 China Rare Earth Holdings Limited

29



30

Directors' Report

EHEHE

Yk SR it 0

R B 7 W T 5 20 5 BT A B R o L TR
(T B SB17 286 %
TIAENHMH > A2 A B & k7R
— ULV A T 1 H SR AR 2 B P T )
(BT 1) K bR A0 R 1) s FBC R w3 (O
B 1) o REFHBIEL LR > AL AN E AR
P8 ST B — 2D PR W M S R
JIT A LAt T T AT SR A 555 DA e AR 4 8 - 1
452 4 T 7 HE A L T ) R AT {68 2 P A7
EESECR S Sty P SN T {iq
AFHEREA R > WA T AT -

etz EE AT

Lo Hret SIS e A S FI R 1A 8 B A S ]
1 KA & B A 2 B 52 1 I e
1 2 B B = [ i

2. BEMSEE AL R ST
J& 2% B A B AT AT 1 B 28 Rl A AT
o] P 2 AT AT B A 2 AT AT R B (AN
BRI > AR ATESE) AT
HATHER ~ ALATBOR - LT HERE R
BAEATRE > DL A G [ 1) B8 e I
AR AR AT AL -

3. HEHrERE > Al TR TIOAROY S E B
98,695,305 A% - &4k 5 Hr st E R 4 H
HAAS A A BT AR Y 10% o

4. BZBERHEEEAEATT+ A8 A
[H] A1 T 8 AT 2 B A B R A AT A A
NATEERF T BEITRAZ 1% ©

5. ARHBEBOREZ ATAT AR F AT S
JEE > [HRATRS B AT H AR A
oo

6.  AEARI4Z L B RO R 2 A Wl 2 B
ZH AR =+ — H AR AVE 1 #
TCHEHA o

MR L ERARAT  ZRBR\ER

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 4 June 2004, the shareholders of the Company approved the
termination of the share option scheme adopted on 14 October
1999 (the “Old Scheme”) and the adoption of a new scheme (the
“New Scheme”) for the purpose of coping with the amendments
introduced to Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). Upon the
termination of the Old Scheme, no further options would be offered
pursuant to the Old Scheme but the Old Scheme would in all other
respects remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to
the exercise of the outstanding options granted under it prior to
its termination, and such outstanding options will continue to be
valid and exercisable in accordance with the provisions of the Old
Scheme.

The major terms of the New Scheme are as follows:

1. The purpose of the New Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group.

2. The eligible participants included any employee (whether
full-time or part-time, including any executive director), any
non-executive director, any shareholder, any supplier and any
customer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest, and any party having contribution to the development
and growth of the Group.

3. Under the New Scheme, the total number of shares available
for issue is 98,695,305 which represents approximately 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
adoption of the New Scheme.

4. The maximum entitlement of each participant under the New
Scheme in any 12-month period should not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company for the time being.

5. The exercisable period of an option granted may be
determined by the directors which should not end later than
10 years after the date of offer.

6. Any offer for the grant of an option may be accepted by
the participant within 21 days from the date of offer with a
consideration of HK$1 paid.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

7. The exercise price may be determined by the directors
provided that it should not be less than the highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the
date of offer;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of offer; and

(iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

8. The New Scheme is valid and effective for a period of
10 years from 18 June 2004, the date of the New Scheme
adopted.

During the year, no option was granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Old Scheme or the New Scheme.

Details of options which have been granted under the Old Scheme
and remain outstanding as at 31 December 2008 were as follows:

ik JBe 9 H
Number of options
RN BB
(iR —H—H#H FZHAZ T —H#EH
Held at Held at

Exercise price 1 January 2008 31 December 2008

1.10%C
HKS$1.10

1,500,000
1,500,000

1,500,000
1,500,000

The options granted are exercisable between 27 January 2003 to 26
January 2013, provided that 50% of the options granted shall not be
exercised prior to 27 January 2004.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement,
which enable any of the directors or chief executive of the
Company or their spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS

So far as is known to the directors, as at 31 December 2008,
the interests and short positions of shareholders, other than the
directors or chief executive of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

1. YY Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital of which
is held by YYT (PTC) Limited, was holding 595,200,000
shares of the Company, representing approximately 41.88%
of the issued share capital of the Company as beneficial
owner.

2. YYT (PTC) Limited was deemed to be interested in
595,200,000 shares of the Company held by YY Holdings
Limited the entire issued share capital of which is held by
YYT (PTC) Limited.

3. Martin Currie (Holdings) Limited was deemed to be
holding 107,675,000 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 7.58% of the issued share capital of the
Company through the interest of corporations controlled by it.

Save as disclosed above, no other party, other than the directors or
chief executive of the Company, had notified the Company that he
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register kept under Section 336
of the SFO as at 31 December 2008.
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Directors’ Report

EHERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

During the year, the Group leased two office premises from Mr
Jiang Quanlong for use as its sales and marketing office. During the
year, the total operating lease rentals paid in respect of these leases
amounted to approximately HK$238,000.

During the year, the Group paid approximately HK$58,000 as
a compensation to Wuxi Pan-Asia Environmental Protection
Technologies Limited, a related company in which Ms Qian
Yuanying and Mr Jiang Quanlong were deemed to have beneficial
interests, for the use of an office premises.

Save as disclosed above and in Note 33 to the financial statements,
no director had a beneficial interest, either direct or indirect, in
any contract of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party at the balance sheet date or at any time
during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was
entered into or existed during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

There has been no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the
Company’s listed securities by the Group during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable to
the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Sales
— the largest customer 8%
— five largest customers combined 22%
Purchases
— the largest supplier 13%
— five largest suppliers combined 43%

None of the directors, their associates or any sharcholders which
to the knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital has any interest in the share capital
of any of the five largest customers or suppliers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Memorandum and Articles of Association and the Cayman Islands
Companies Law in relation to the issue of new shares by the
Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the
year.
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Directors’ Report

EHERE

AUDITORS
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, who acted as the auditors of the

Company since 2005, resigned on 11 July 2008 and CCIF CPA
Limited were appointed as auditors of the Company.

CCIF CPA Limited retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Jiang Quanlong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 April 2009
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CCIF

CCIF CPA LIMITED

20/F Sunning Plaza
10 Hysan Avenue
Causeway Bay Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA RARE EARTH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 38 to 139,
which comprise the consolidated and Company balance sheets as
at 31 December 2008, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

T ST A% B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 December 2008 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

CCIF CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 April 2009

Ho Chun Shing
Practising Certificate Number P04396
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Consolidated Income Statement

A iR AR AR

WEFF/IE T A= LA
For the year ended 31 December 2008

TRENE T LE
2008 2007
i F#x T T
Note HKS$’000 HKS$°000
BER Turnover 5 1,364,890 1,385,345
B AR Cost of sales (1,015,603) (931,232)
EF Gross profit 349,287 454,113
HoAth i 2 Other revenue 6 13,554 18,910
B T oy 82 Selling and distribution expenses (60,139) (45,015)
A Administrative expenses (105,359) (29,087)
HA e A T3 58 Other income, net 696 2,440
AR AR Finance costs 7(a) (10,288) (5,227)
2 WE R Impairment loss on goodwill 16 (208,804) -
W~ WE K Impairment loss on property, plant
Z WA R R and equipment 17(a) (97,498) =
BRBLET (B518) V6 (Loss)/profit before taxation 7 (118,551) 396,134
Fr 3B Income tax 8 (53,856) (97,054)
AR (REi8) /i F (Loss)/profit for the year (172,407) 299,080
FEAL (B548) B F) - Attributable to:
AN AR Equity shareholders of the Company 12 (170,972) 295,045
DB TR i Minority interests (1,435) 4,035
(172,407) 299,080
358 Dividends 13 14,211 71,057
K (518 /2R (Loss)/earnings per share
— R — Basic 14(a) (12.03) centsill 20.76 centslli
— i — Diluted 14(b) (12.03) centsfll 20.75 cents il

5545 H A 139 H 2 M Ak b Al I 5 e HL R

Bl -

MR L ERARAR  FBR)\ER

statements.

The notes on pages 45 to 139 form part of these financial



Consolidated Balance Sheet
mEEEAMER

ROFE /T A=+ —H
As at 31 December 2008

ZERNE CFTEEF

2008 2007
i Fi#r T T
Note HKS$’000 HKS$°000
FE By # Non-current assets
[k Goodwill 16 85,843 206,705
ERN Y& Property, plant and equipment 17(a) 715,124 744,073
KEME NN DA S Prepaid lease payments on land
under operating leases 18 262,444 159,613
& Intangible assets 19 379,014 =
WCHRIZE ~ B JE R 2 Deposits for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment - 71,731
IS E T Deposit for acquisition of interests
TR 2 %4 in land under operating leases 20 - 54,998
TR AT £ 3K Pledged bank deposit 25 15,000 =
Z PRI ERAT 4 Restricted bank balance 25 22,678 =
& W ERAT A Fixed bank deposits 25 - 25,000
R LBl VE A Deferred tax assets 29(b) 20,432 -
1,500,535 1,262,120
R Current assets
REHETHEMN S Prepaid lease payments on land
under operating leases 18 5,746 3,508
& Inventories 22 308,837 296,254
JRE B e At B Wi 2k Trade and other receivables 23 412,019 381,623
TN BRIE Bk Prepayments and deposits 23 70,042 102,763
A [ A TH Tax recoverable 29(a) 27,799 =
CHEH R T 773K Pledged bank deposits 25 119,797 99,790
Z Rl ST 45 Restricted bank balances 25 4,309 214
B k&% HEAEE Cash and cash equivalents 26 765,252 651,992
1,713,801 1,536,144
L) £ 4 Current liabilities
JEAF AR K Trade payables 27 116,189 62,113
FESR B B H A A 2K Accruals and other payables 97,120 56,592
JREASS 3 = FE Amounts due to directors 24 667 560
A —4F R E Y R 4T LK Bank borrowings due within one year 28 140,123 101,453
JRE A i I Tax payable 29(a) 9,712 27,622
W i Y B ) 2 0 s A AR A Deferred consideration payables
for acquisition of subsidiaries 34(a)&(b) 115,659 =
479,470 248,340
it B A A Net current assets 1,234,331 1,287,804
W 7 B R B A2 A Total assets less current liabilities 2,734,866 2,549,924

Annual Report 2008 China Rare Earth Holdings Limited

39



Consolidated Balance Sheet

meEEAME

AT NEFZH=+—H

As at 31 December 2008

“ZFNE CELLE
2008 2007
i Fi#r Fitor
Note HKS$’000 HKS$°000
FE ) £ 15 Non-current liabilities
WATR Bank borrowings 28 155,000 =
IR LBl VE B Deferred tax liabilities 29(b) 106,337 =
261,337 -
¥ i NET ASSETS 2,473,529 2,549,924
A B i CAPITAL AND RESERVES
JeA Share capital 30(c) 142,114 142,114
Tt Reserves 30(a) 2,302,253 2,379,578
7% ) FBOOR R A 1 4 Equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 2,444,367 2,521,692
DR R 2R Minority interests 29,162 28,232
B2 TOTAL EQUITY 2,473,529 2,549,924

FHE AN FERNAEM A 00 B & Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24
BRET B April 2009

5 YT Jiang Quanlong Qian Yuanying
EHFH HH Director Director

HASE 139 B 2 Mt g i R e R The notes on pages 45 to 139 form part of these financial
— IRy o statements.
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Balance Sheet
HrEAMER

REEENEF A=+ —H
As at 31 December 2008

TRENE BB LE
2008 2007
(! T#C FiTT
Note HKS$’000 HK3'000
00 ) % Non-current assets
W~ WE Kk Property, plant and equipment 17(b) 20 28
TR E S 2 A Investments in subsidiaries 21 151,707 151,707
B R ER AT 77K Pledged bank deposit 25 15,000 =
EWERATA R Fixed bank deposits 25 - 25,000
166,727 176,735
LU b= A Current assets
JRE U s I LAt JE Wik Trade and other receivables 23 621 =
TE AT R Je e 4 Prepayments and deposits 23 656 565
JRE WA Ff oG ) ek I Amounts due from subsidiaries 24 1,276,509 1,189,666
E KT SRAT A7 K Pledged bank deposits 25 27,270 99,790
Bl KB &% HIEE Cash and cash equivalents 26 152,031 58,308
1,457,087 1,348,329
W E Current liabilities
TR B A AT 3k Accruals and other payables 6,638 1,713
JREAST Bt & 2 ) s E Amounts due to subsidiaries 24 255 240
JHE A< 28 Tk IE Amounts due to directors 24 753 676
A4 N 2 A I SR T K Bank borrowings due within one year 28 22,500 -
30,146 2,629
W% RS Net current assets 1,426,941 1,345,700
B A0 S 8D 13 A Total assets less current liabilities 1,593,668 1,522,435
FE G B £k Non-current liabilities
SRATE K Bank borrowings 28 155,000 -
¥ NET ASSETS 1,438,668 1,522,435
YA B fili i CAPITAL AND RESERVES
A Share capital 30(c) 142,114 142,114
(A Reserves 30(b) 1,296,554 1,380,321
HE 2 48 H TOTAL EQUITY 1,438,668 1,522,435
TEHRER EBEAENH 0 H & Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24
g milki April 2009
% N e Jiang Quanlong Qian Yuanying
HH HH Director Director

5545 H E 139 B 2 Bk #  IA 5  oE

-

statements.

The notes on pages 45 to 139 form part of these financial
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

WEFF/IE T A= LA
For the year ended 31 December 2008

AATARKE R
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
R WA BY ¥k RE ER O RW HURK
Bk EE Gl EWRE BE O B BB BA MR BE AN
Buildings
Share  Share  Capital revaluation ~Statutory  Dividend Translation  Retained Minority
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserves  reserve  reserve  profits Total  interests Total

ThL TG TG TBL TBC L L T T T TR
HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'0) HKS000 HKS'000 HKSO00 HKS'000 HKSO00 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000

REEELE-A-H At ] January 2007 | 8980 5686 62490 69034 22663 2134 2237957
ERMERTERL Bxchange difference directly
EfzR recogaised in equity - Vit ST 281 8394
AR Profit for the year - - - 95045 295045 4035 299,080
RERHLZ 4% Total recognised income and

expenses for the year - - 8L0TL 295045 376,116 6,908 383,024
NEEEERE Appropriations to statutory reserves 27,982 - - (198 - - -
RS (3 13) Dividend set aside (note 13) - - (s - - -
BRZZERERMRE Final dividend paid for 2006 - (56846) - - (56846) - (56840)
BRZZFLEMIRE Interim dividend paid for 2007 - (41 = - (141 o)
REFZLEFZR=+-Rk At31 December 2007 and
ZEZ\E-H-A 1 January 2008 | 10796 6846 143561 86330 2520690 28232 254994
BT Exchange difference directly
ErixR recogaised in equity - ~ 134908 - 108 170 136628
HHEER BT ERER Surplus on revaluation of buildings
(JfF&E 17(a) i) eld for own use (note 17(a)(i)) - - - - 9 859 40387
AR BFER Deferred tax on revaluation of
FRAERE (3£ 29(0) buildings held for own use

(note 29(b)) - - - - 0% Q) (10140)
KEEER Loss for the year - - - (1T097) (10972)  (1435) (172.407)
REEER IR Total recognised income and

expenses for the year - - 134908 (170972)  (6,208) 9230 (5338)
PREEE R Appropriations to statutory reserves 20,345 - - (20345 - - -
HERE (K1) Dividend set aside (note 13) -l - (14200 - - -
ERZZELEAMRE Final dividend paid for 2007 - (36840) = - (5684) - (56.846)
BRZZZAERE Interim dividend paid for 2008 — (14200 - - (14200 - (14210
AZFEAETZA=1-H At31 December 2008 | 138307 S BA6) 60802 24M367 916 24750

5545 H 2 139 B M A Al B 8 i H R
— Ry o

The notes on pages 45 to 139 form part of these financial
statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
HEBEmEE

BEZFEZN\FHZA=1—HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

“ERN\E CERLE
2008 2007
iF T#x TT
Note HKS$’000 HK$°000
REEH Operating activities
WBLRT (B4R /i A1 (Loss)/profit before taxation (118,551) 396,134
PRI Adjustments for:
BB AR Finance costs 7(a) 10,288 5,227
FE LA Interest income 6 (9,330) (17,144)
W3 - B By Depreciation on property,
I plant and equipment 7(c) 91,956 81,796
KA P Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
Tl 4 2 6 on land under operating leases 7(c) 4,515 3,201
P BEEE Impairment loss on goodwill 16 208,804 -
W3 ~ BB Bty Impairment loss on property,
Z W ER plant and equipment 17(a) 97,498 -
TR IR B At e ik 2 Impairment loss on trade
A E# and other receivables 7(c) 22,089 1,936
M M At B ik Write back of impairment loss
2 Il 4 18 [ on trade and other receivables 6 (4,224) (1,766)
HEWE - BE Lk Net loss on disposal of property,
IR plant and equipment 7(c) 9,494 35313
ER S P Revaluation deficit on property,
EXfl 0 plant and equipment 7(c) 29,646 -
TrEMPR Write down of inventories 22(b) 37,551 9,915
BEELSHWHHEE Operating cash flows before
Bas changes in working capital 379,736 514,612
R Increase in inventories (37,450) (76,352)
JRE ST BR  B HE A sk Decrease/(increase) in trade
B/ (Hm) and other receivables 25,686 (38,315)
TAT B R AL EW D/ (HMN)  Decrease/(increase) in prepayments
and deposits 81,109 (59,863)
JREA5F e 3 Increase in trade payables 35,225 11,729
TR A e At £+ K (Decrease)/increase in accruals
(D) /s and other payables (121,099) 4,388
JE S SRR/ () Increase/(decrease) in
amounts due to directors 107 (9,502)
A5 BB 2 ) SR B Decrease in amount due to
a related company - (550)
BEMANBIE Cash generated from operations 363,314 346,147
RENE N Tax paid
BT B A 2P B PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (111,170) (90,225)
BRI B4EH Net cash generated from
operating activities 252,144 255,922
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

»vT (=] Iﬁﬂ‘z{}ﬁgi

BE_ZF/NEL A=+ —HILFERE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

i 2 2% —— k2

2008 2007
it T#r THT
Note HKS$’000 HK$°000
SR Investing activities
WEEYE - B Nk Purchase of property,
plant and equipment (37,168) (97,866)
HEWE - s Rt Proceeds from disposal of property,
e plant and equipment 139 944
A rEM e Prepaid lease payments on land
under operating leases (6,819) (14,651)
KA ~ BE Bk fE 2 Payment of deposits for acquisition of
Eirgery property, plant and equipment - (45,962)
BB - WE Bk Refund of deposits for acquisition of
e property, plant and equipment 5,939 -
FATACERE T U LIRSS Payment of deposit for acquisition of
Z1E interests in land under operating leases - (54,098)
ERSATE D/ (B0 Decrease/(increase) in fixed bank deposits 25,000 (25,000)
) TEET%E TAEA S IR (Increase)/decrease in pledged bank
RAT4E8R () /b deposits and restricted bank balances (61,780) 2,640
EW*U% Interest received 9,330 17,144
g B i ) B Net cash outflow from
i AR acquisition of subsidiaries 34(a) & (b) (266,088) -
SO B4 R Net cash used in investing activities (331,447) (216,849)
TR ) Financing activities
ERETER Repayment of bank borrowings (255,242) (196,240)
s sRAT SRR F0H Proceeds from new bank borrowings 442,346 196,240
BN Dividends paid (71,057) (71,057)
BRI B ALA Interest paid on bank borrowings (10,288) (5,227)
BB AL (B W) B143% % Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 105,759 (76,284)
B4 RIE%SHEH Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
B/ (W) B cash equivalents 26,456 (37,211)
SRR A BB SHEH Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 651,992 660,770
M ER Effect of changes in exchange rate 86,804 28,433
ERBE RIS SHEH Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 26 765,252 651,992

5545 H £ 139 H 2 R A n B R 3R L The notes on pages 45 to 139 form part of these financial
— R o statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

S 285 A P

BEZFEZN\FHZA=1—HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

GENERAL

China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section to the annual report.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) is engaged in the manufacture and sales of rare
earth products (including fluorescent products) and refractory
products (including high temperature ceramics products and
magnesium grains).

The principal operations of the Group are conducted in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”), which is different from the functional currency
of the Group, Renminbi (“RMB”). The directors consider
that presenting consolidated financial statements in HKS$ is
preferable when controlling and monitoring the performance
and financial position of the Group and in reporting to a single
largest shareholder, YY Holdings Limited whose functional
currency is HKS.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
WA 3R B

BE_ZZ/FETZH=1T—HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2008
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong,
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange. A summary of the significant accounting
policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments and
interpretations which are or have become effective. It
has also issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group and the
Company. Note 3 provides information on the changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2008 comprise the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis, except
those disclosed otherwise in the accounting policies
below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
to HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of
material adjustment in the next year are discussed in
note 4.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)

Subsidiaries and minority interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control
exists when the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are
taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Minority interests represent the portion of the net
assets of subsidiaries attributable to interests that
are not owned by the Company, whether directly or
indirectly through subsidiaries, and in respect of which
the Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result in the
Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. Minority interests are presented in
the consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Minority interests in the results of the Group
are presented on the face of the consolidated income
statements as an allocation of the total profit or loss
for the year between minority interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

<)

d)

Subsidiaries and minority interests (Continued)

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the
minority’s interest in the equity of a subsidiary, the
excess, and any further losses applicable to the minority,
are charged against the Group’s interest except to the
extent that the minority has a binding obligation to, and
is able to, make additional investment to cover the losses.
If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, the Group’s
interest is allocated all such profits until the minority’s
share of losses previously absorbed by the Group has
been recovered.

Loans from holders of minority interests and other
contractual obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheet in accordance with note 2(1) depending on
the nature of the liability.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment loss
(see note 2(h)(ii)), unless the investments are classified
as held for sale.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and
is tested annually for impairment (see note 2(h)(ii)).

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over the cost of a business
combination is recognised immediately in the income
statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

d)

e)

Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the
year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill
is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on
disposal.

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings held for own use are stated in the balance sheet
at their revalued amount, being their fair value at the
date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to
ensure that the carrying amount of these assets does not
differ materially from that which would be determined
using fair values at the balance sheet date.

Except for buildings held for own use, other property,
plant and equipment are stated in the balance sheet at
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses (see note 2(h)(ii)).

Changes arising on the revaluation of buildings held for
own use are generally dealt with in revaluation reserves.
The only exceptions are as follows:

—  when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be
charged to income statement to the extent that it
exceeds the amount held in the revaluation reserve
in respect of that same asset immediately prior to
the revaluation; and

— when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be
credited to income statement to the extent that a
deficit on revaluation in respect of that same asset
had previously been charged to income statement.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the
site on which they are located, and appropriate proportion
of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note

2(s)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net proceeds on disposal
and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
income statement on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or
valuation of items of property, plant and equipment, less
their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Buildings held for own use 20 years
—  Machinery and equipment 10 years
—  Office equipment and fixtures 5 years
—  Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful
life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction-in-progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of construction
of buildings, the costs of machinery and equipment
and interest charges arising from borrowings used to
finance these assets during the period of construction or
installation and testing. No provision for depreciation is
made on construction-in-progress until such time as the
relevant assets are completed and are available for the
intended use. When the assets concerned are brought into
use, the costs are transferred to other property, plant and
equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy
as stated above.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs, where applicable (see note 2(s)). Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see note 2(h)(ii)).
Other development expenditure is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated
amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite)
and impairment losses (see note 2(h)(ii)).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f)

2)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to income statement on a straight-line basis
over the asset’s estimated useful lives. The following
intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

—  Exclusive right to purchase rare 16 years
earth minerals

—  Technical know-how for preliminary 10 years
separation of rare earth minerals

—  Technical know-how for rare 10 years

earth metal products

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite
is accounted for prospectively from the date of change
and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the leasee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to income statement in equal instalments over
the accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received are recognised in income
statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments made. Contingent rentals are charged to income
statement in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

h) Impairment of assets

0

Impairment of receivables

Current and non-current receivables that are stated
at cost or amortised cost are reviewed at each
balance sheet date to determine whether there
is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable data
that comes to the attention of the Group about one
or more of the following loss events:

—  significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; and

—  significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor.



Notes to the Financial Statements

PAS R T
BEFTE/\ETA =R ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

2. FEEEEOR ) 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
h)  ¥EREWAE (4 h) Impairment of assets (Continued)
i) HEWRIZ W (4E) i)  Impairment of receivables (Continued)

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:
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For trade and other financial assets carried
at amortised cost, the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the
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interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition of these assets),
where the effect of discounting is material.
This assessment is made collectively where
financial assets carried at amortised cost share
similar risk characteristics, such as similar
past due status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through income
statement. A reversal of an impairment
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

h)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

0

Impairment of receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade debtors and bills receivable included
within trade and other receivables, whose
recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful
debts are recorded using an allowance account.
When the Group is satisfied that recovery is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against trade debtors and bills
receivable directly and any amounts held in
the allowance account relating to that debt are
reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account.
Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off directly are recognised in income
statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify
indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

—  goodwill;
—  property, plant and equipment (other than
buildings carried at revalued amounts);

—  prepaid lease payments on land under
operating leases;

—  intangible assets; and

—  investments in subsidiaries.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for
use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

h)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its net selling price and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in income
statement whenever the carrying amount of
an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which
it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group
of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair values less costs to
sell, or value in use, if determinable.
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2. TEEHEOR ) 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
h) EEWE () h)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)
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reversed.
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iii)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in
respect of the first six months of the financial
year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition,
and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the
financial year (see notes 2(h)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill are not reversed in a
subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at the end of the
financial year to which the interim period relates.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)

D

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at
fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(h)
(1)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans
made to related parties without any fixed repayment
terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial.
In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(h)

().
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k)

1)

m)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between the
amount initially recognised and redemption value being
recognised in income statement over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
cash flow statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

n)

Employee benefits

)

ii)

iii)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.

Share options granted to employee after 7
November 2002 and vested before 1 January 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not
recorded in the consolidated financial statements
until such time as the options are exercised, and
to charge is recognised in the consolidated income
statement in respect of the value of options granted.
Upon the exercise of the share options, the resulting
shares issued are recorded as additional share
capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the
excess of the exercise price per share over the
nominal value of the shares is recorded as share
premium. Options which lapse or are cancelled prior
to their exercise date are deleted from the register of
outstanding options.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possible of
withdrawal.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in income statement except to the extent
that they relate to items recognised directly in equity, in
which case they are recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused
tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken
into account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can
be utilised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to the recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they
are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at each balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0)

P)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities if and only if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

—  different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Company or the Group has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

P)

q)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs,
if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in income statement as follows:

i)  Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the Group has
transferred to the customer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods. Revenue
excludes value added and business taxes, and is
after deduction of any goods returns and trade
discounts.

ii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

r)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transaction during the year are
translated into HKS$ at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into
HKS$ at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance
sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
income statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance
sheet items, including goodwill arising on consolidation
of foreign operations acquired on or after 1 January
2005, are translated into HK$ at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised directly in a separate
component of equity. Goodwill arising on consolidation
of a foreign operation acquired before 1 January 2005 is
translated at the foreign exchange rate that applied at the
date of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences recognised in equity
which relate to that foreign operation is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

s)

t)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in income statement in the
period in which they are incurred, except to the extent
that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the Group if:

i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, to control the
Group or exercise significant influence over the
Group in making financial and operating policy
decisions, or has joint control over the Group;

ii) the Group and the party are subject to common
control;

iii) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint
venture in which the Group is a venturer;

iv) the party is a member of key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a close
family member of such an individual, or is an
entity under the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals;
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For the year ended 31 December 2008

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

t)

u)

Related parties (Continued)

v) the party is a close family member of a party
referred to in note 2(t)(i) or is an entity under the
control, joint control or significant influence of such
individuals; or

vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is
for the benefit of employees of the Group or of any
entity that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the
entity.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group
that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment), or in providing products or services
within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are
different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial
reporting system, the Group has chosen business
segment information as the primary reporting format
and geographical segment information as the secondary
reporting format for the purposes of these financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

u) Segment reporting (Continued)

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to
that segment. For example, segment assets may include
inventories, trade receivables and property, plant and
equipment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets, and
liabilities are determined before intra-group balances
and intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of
the consolidation process, except to the extent that such
intra-group balances and transactions are between group
entities within a single segment. Inter-segment pricing
is based on similar terms as those available to other
external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred
during the period to acquire segment assets (both tangible
and intangible) that are expected to be used for more than
one period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and
corporate assets, bank borrowings, corporate and
financing expenses.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has where applicable applied the
following amendments and interpretations (“new HKFRSs”)
issued by the HKICPA which are or have become effective.

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 Reclassification of
(Amendments) Financial assets
HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2: Group and

Treasury Share Transactions

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19-The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their interaction
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

The application of the new HKFRSs had no material effect
on how the results and financial position for the current or
prior accounting periods have been prepared and presented.
Accordingly, no prior year adjustment is required.

The Group has not early applied any of the following new and

revised standards, amendments or interpretations which have

been issued but are not yet effect for annual periods beginning

on 1 January 2008.
HKFRSs (Amendments)
HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)
HKAS 32 & 1 (Amendments)
HKAS 39 (Amendment)
HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27
(Amendments)

HKFRS 1 (Revised)
HKFRS 2 (Amendments)
HKFRS 3 (Revised)
HKFRS 8
HK(IFRIC)-Int 13
HK(IFRIC)-Int 15
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18

Improvements to HKFRSs!

Presentation of Financial Statements?

Borrowing Costs?

Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements?

Puttable Financial Instruments
and Obligations Arising
on Liquidation?

Eligible Hedged Items?

Cost of an Investment in a
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate?

First-time adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards?

Vesting Conditions and Cancellations?

Business Combinations?

Operating Segments?

Customer Loyalty Programmes*

Agreements for the Construction
of Real Estate?
Hedges of a Net Investment in
a Foreign Operation’
Distributions of Non-cash
Assets to Owners?
Transfers of Assets from Customers®

' REFFNAE A — HRPEBIG 2 F

BRI AR > MR TS i MR R A S 9k
BERTAR —FFIAEEA — H SR B R
AR BEHTEAER

REFFIAE—A— HRPEBIIG 2
] A
REFFRAEEA — HRPEBIIG 2
] A

Mo FE/NELA— HRPEBIIG 2 4
] A

REFE/NEA+A— HRPEBIIG 2 £
] A

R _EFRNELA — BRI A %
J5 i 2 B R

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 except
for the amendments to HKFRS 5 which is effective for annual period
beginning on or after 1 July 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008

o Effective for transfers of assets from customers received on or after 1 July
2009
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the
accounting for business combination for which the acquisition
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting
period beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting treatment for
changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary.

The Company’s directors anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised standards, amendments or
interpretations will have no material impact on the results and
the financial position of the Group.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk

of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

discussed below:

a)

b)

<)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at
31 December 2008, the carrying amount of goodwill is
HK$85,843,000 (2007: HK$206,705,000). Details of the
recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 16.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives
and residual values for the Group’s property, plant
and equipment in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in note 2(e). The Group will revise the
depreciation charge where useful lives and residual
values are different from previous estimates, or will write
off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the
Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing whether an event
has occurred that may affect the asset value or such
event affecting the asset value has not been in existence.
As described in note 17(a)(iii), certain machinery and
equipment were impaired at the balance sheet date using
cost replacement approach by independent qualified
valuers.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

<)

d)

e)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

Such valuation was based on certain assumptions, which
are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ
from the actual results. In making the judgement, the
Group considers information from the aggregate amount
of the new replacement cost of the machinery and
equipment and deductions may be made to account for
the age, condition, economic or functional obsolescence
and environmental factor existing at each balance sheet
date.

Fair value of buildings held for own use

As described in note 17(a)(ii), the buildings held for
own use were revalued at the balance sheet date using
cost replacement approach by independent qualified
valuers. A revaluation surplus of HK$40,587,000 (2007:
HK$Nil) and revaluation deficit of HK$29,646,000
(2007: HKS$Nil) have been recognised in the reserve
and consolidated income statement respectively. Such
valuation was based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from
the actual results. In making the judgement, the Group
considers information from the aggregate amount of
the new replacement cost of the buildings and other site
works and deductions may be made to account for the
age, condition, economic or functional obsolescence and
environmental factor existing at each balance sheet date.

Impairment of intangible assets

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has
been impairment of intangible assets in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in note 2(h)(ii).
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are
determined based on value in use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions
made by management on the future operation of the
business, pre-tax discount rates, and other assumptions
underlying the value in use calculations. The directors
are of opinion that intangible assets are not impaired as at
31 December 2008.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

f) Amortisation of intangible assets

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The determination of
the useful lives involves management’s estimation. The
Group re-assesses the useful life of the intangible assets
and, if the expectation differs from the original estimate,
such a difference may impact the amortisation in the year
and the estimate will be changed in the future period.

¢) Impairment of receivables

The policy for impairment on receivables of the Group
is based on the evaluation of collectibility, ageing
analysis of accounts and on management’s judgement.
A considerable amount of judgement is required in
assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each customer. If the financial
conditions of customers of the Group were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional impairment may be required.
Details of impairment of receivables are disclosed in note
23(c).

h) Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is determined on
the basis of the estimated selling price less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. The directors estimate
the net realisable value for inventories based primarily on
the latest invoice prices and current market conditions.
As at 31 December 2008, the directors performed an
inventory review on a product-by-product basis and write
down of inventories amounting to HK$37,551,000 (2007:
HK$9,915,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

i)

1)

Taxation

The Group is subject to various taxes in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for taxation. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that are initially recorded,
such differences will impact the tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred
tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the unused tax losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to estimate the amount and timing of future taxable profit
as well as the applicable tax rates so as to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities to be
recognsied. In this regard, the Group has recognised
deferred tax assets and liabilities in the amount of
approximately HK$20,432,000 (2007: HKS$Nil) and
HK$106,337,000 (2007: HKS$Nil) as at 31 December
2008 respectively.
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BEM 5. TURNOVER
wEEEMETES 2 BN EEME Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to
(BTG (E B S 2EBL) » 36 FnBR customers which excludes value-added and business taxes, and
fEATIR B R E G d0 o ARF R E is after deduction of any goods returns and trade discounts.
PR 2 Wl as 2 4% 2 R A A e The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised
T in turnover during the year is as follows:
“RRNE —FEFLEF
2008 2007
T#C Ti#IT
HK$’000 HK$°000
s L i (BL4E 50 Sales of rare earth products
JEE ) S (including fluorescent products) 618,637 713,630
it K 7E i (L5 =M% Sales of refractory products
FE i S B ) 8 4 (including high temperature
ceramics products and magnesium grains) 746,253 671,715
1,364,890 1,385,345
0l e i 6. OTHER REVENUE
CEENE TR LAE
2008 2007
T#C TitoT
HKS$’000 HK$°000
SRATAE A Bl A (Bff5E)  Interest income from bank deposits (note) 9,330 17,144
JES B 21 &% HoAb B3k Write back of impairment loss
TR A s R 43 [ on trade and other receivables 4,224 1,766
13,554 18,910
fft T - Note:
SRATAF FOR B A F8 3 JF Hie T E S A H 45 2 Interest income from bank deposits represented the total interest income on
4 i 7E A S A SR o financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss.
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7. BRBLEG i), WA 7. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
BRBLET (Bs18) %A E ks (GEA) (Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/
T4 ¢ (crediting):

— S
2008 2007
T#x T
HK$’000  HKS$'000

a) MBI a) Finance costs
JHIN AR N BB Interest expenses on bank borrowings
B3 2 RATHE wholly repayable within five years 10,288 5,199
FOA R
HoAh B A Other borrowing costs — 28
S IR H A TESA Total interest expense on financial
4 2 4 Rl B A liabilities not at fair value through
At #B profit or loss 10,288 5,227
b) BIEA (A b) Staff costs (excluding directors’
Bk 9 Pralii 2 emoluments in note 9)
H 4
HEeE A TE Salaries and wages 34,989 31,883
AR AARAE A 5T kR Retirement benefits scheme
(FEELD) contribution (note 11) 2,148 1,585
37,137 33,468
c) IfbIEH ¢) Other items
72 BRI 4 Auditors’ remuneration 3,200 1,920
FERA (FE22(b)) Cost of inventories (note 22(b)) 1,015,603 931,232
S EB U Depreciation on property,
Ba [ PN plant and equipment 91,956 81,796
KEMEET 2 At Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
+ b FH 4 on land under operating leases 4,515 3,201
JRE AT B 2k T HC A B i Impairment loss on trade
L INAE e and other receivables 22,089 1,936
HEYIZE - WS R Net loss on disposal of property,
WA 2 R HR I A plant and equipment 9,494 35,313
W ~ W Bt Revaluation deficit on property,
Z B il s 4l plant and equipment 29,646 -
[ 50,0 45 5 A8 Net exchange gain (1,707) (40,947)
HEWELESHE Operating lease charges on rented
T H premises 1,400 686
g S H Research and development expenditure 440 440
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT

Income tax in the consolidated income statement
represents:

“RFNE L LF
2008 2007
T#x T#or
HK$°000  HKS$'000

A I BE I — v B 4 2
P BE ([ A3
Pif38E])
AR (FH5E 29(a))

WEREBLIE Deferred taxation

Origination and reversal
of temporary differences
(note 29(b))

W7 IR I 22 S 2
7 A B A3 e
(P 5E29(b))

PrigBi sz

W5

A AR B 2 B A % R TE DA 2 A AT
BOL R A REAE AR - B > S
G S AT BRI T AR L o

MoEENESNAHZHAH > FlLEE
I B AFAROIER > 5 2R
3B B 17.5% HIR 2 16.5% > B ZFF )N\
4R RS UAERBL AR BERE AR o A UE A
A5 T80 42 A AF JBE Ak S B LB U6 R 16.5% (—
FELAE 1 17.5%) 5HE o« @E_2E/\F
A= HIRERE > d R EE U R
5o A A (9 S 0 JRE B i ) > 7 S A A
FISBIRHERM (CFT L4 T -

A 42 18] v g A N W 2R AR 25% (B F L
AF 1 27% B 33%) HAR B A 2E PR AR AL o

AEELE=ZAHNE > hEARILAM
150 728 3 PP 3 N B LR B S 4 5F 63 BE AR
i o B 3 [ 4 2 BT A5 B I ([ B Bl
%) o RERLETZHANRNH > BB
LA B Y B Mt R 81 o BTk B B A 19
BT\ AE— A — H A AP b A )
Bl R £y 25% o

A 42 ) v (R R 2 L A I 4 A
LA BR 2w (TR B g 3 1) B it 3 J
LB A BRA R ([EIREE]) AHEA =&
T /\AF R w0 AR A e e B S T A B
Rifif5 = AP 50% BLI IR b o R N\
SEF A= HIRER > BER S &
TR AL F BB A (T AT
FHIT) ©

Income tax charge

Current tax-PRC Enterprise
Income Tax (“EIT”)

Provision for the year (note 29(a)) 55,758 97,054

(1,902) -

53,856 97,054

Note:

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Company Law of the Cayman
Islands and, accordingly, is exempted from payment of the Cayman
Islands income tax.

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed the
Revenue Bill 2008 and reduced corporate profits tax rate from 17.5% to
16.5% which is effective from the year of assessment 2008/2009. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2007: 17.5%) of the estimated
assessable profit for the year. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has
been made as the Group had no assessable profits subject to Hong Kong
profits tax during the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007: HK$Nil).

The PRC subsidiaries of the Group are subject to PRC EIT at 25% (2007:
27% and 33%).

On 16 March 2007, the People’s Republic of China promulgated the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the “New
Tax Law”) by Order No. 63 of the President of the People’s Republic of
China. On 6 December 2007, the State Council issued Implementation
Regulation of the New Tax Law. The New Tax Law and Implementation
Regulation changed the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries to 25% from 1
January 2008 onwards.

The PRC subsidiaries of the Group, Yixing Wellfire Nonmetal
Materials Co., Ltd. (“Yixing Wellfire”) and Hai Cheng Xinwei Leeshing
Magnesium Resources Co., Ltd. (“Hai Cheng Magnesium”), are entitled
to the exemptions from PRC EIT for two years starting from 2008,
followed by a 50% tax relief for the next three years. Yixing Wellfire and
Hai Cheng Magnesium have no estimated assessable profit for the year
ended 31 December 2008 (2007: HK$Nil).
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WA 3R B

BE_ZZ/FETZH=1T—HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

8. HTHERNZIAE &) 8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (Continued)

BT8R 2 Bl e st (k48) i R 2 [ Reconciliation between income tax charge and accounting
F A BLRFTE 2 HIRT - (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates is as follows:

ZERNE FTLEF

2008 2007
F#C T#T
HKS$’000 HK$°000
BRBLHT Of51H) /i (Loss)/profit before taxation (118,551) 396,134
BrBiaT () H Al Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation,
AT B %8 AR K515 calculated at the rates applicable
ZAFEBIH to the countries concerned (16,069) 105,382
AAHEFI S 2 B2 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 68,043 161
HEBABIR A Z B2 Tax effect of non-taxable income (653) (10,461)
KRR 2 A E) HBLIAE Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised
fetH 2 BB 2 1,724 341
3 AR S O Underprovision of deferred
B R tax assets in prior years (1,693) -
AN ABIE 138 2 Tax effect of tax loss not
BB 518 2 B R 28 allowed for tax deduction 2,504 1,631
AR Income tax charge 53,856 97,054
9. HFME 9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
a)  AREEEEL ARG 161 bR a) Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 161
HZEHM ST of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as follows:
“RFNE FFLE
2008 2007
T#x T
HKS$’000 HKS$°000
HATESR Executive directors
— Hi4 MG — salaries and allowance 2,598 2,582
WA AT Independent non-executive directors
Lk — fees 159 154

2,757 2,736
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De

I

Notes to the Financial Statements

AR TR N T

HEEZT)NE+ZH=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

WA ) 9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

b) MEFE)NE KR ZEE LA b) Details of directors’ emoluments by individual director for
A=+ —HILFE > 7 E the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:
HZEFMEFEWT -

REZZZANET N Z—HIARE
Year ended 31 December 2008
L% R
#HHE RECHHN i 4 44 3
Basic salaries,
Directors’ allowance and Total
fees benefits-in-kind emoluments
T#7x T T
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
R Executive directors
i ALHE Jiang Quanlong - 1,320 1,320
BT Qian Yuanying - 1,014 1,014
B Xu Panfeng - 132 132
WA Jiang Cainan - 132 132
B AT g Independent non-executive directors
BRI Liu Yujiu 47 - 47
HEE Huang Chunhua 72 - 72
SE Jin Zhong 40 - 40
159 2,598 2,757
BEZTEEF A=+ HIEE
Year ended 31 December 2007
A& B
S RE R 488
Basic salaries,
Directors’  allowance and Total
fees benefits-in-kind emoluments
it it it
HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HK$°000
ki e Executive directors
BRHE Jiang Quanlong = 1,320 1,320
T Qian Yuanying - 1,014 1,014
A Xu Panfeng - 124 124
EAw Jiang Cainan = 124 124
R K S Independent non-executive directors
BRI Liu Yujiu 45 — 45
i Huang Chunhua 72 - 72
SE Jin Zhong 37 = 37
154 2,582 2,736
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WA 3R B

BE_ZZ/FETZH=1T—HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

9. WML )
b) (4

BE_FTTNFER_FTLF
ToA=t—HIEEE - HRE
HILFAE TS - BEZFTN
FR-FFLFT_A=+—H
ARAFBE - M S o) A T = S AT R
JREASH T A A 8 ) o AL A 4 o B
% A £

10. EmH AL

BEEZFZNFE+ _H=+—HILE
B AEBRLZREHFALF > H
SH4(CEELE D Z8) BARNFE
o HM &M o iR o kM4
(ZEZ LA W) e A2

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

b) (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007,
no directors waived any emoluments. No inducement
payments to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office was paid or payable to
any director for the years ended 31 December 2008 and
2007.

10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2008, out of the five
highest paid individuals in the Group, three (2007: three) are
directors of the Company whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 9. The aggregate emoluments in respect of the remaining
two (2007: two) highest paid individuals are as follows:

SR

ZRBNAE ERLAF
2008 2007
TF#IT Fr
HKS$’000 HKS$’000

FEAF 4 > HRE & Basic salaries, allowance
AR A and benefits-in-kind 1,079 1,079
TR AARAE At 8 2k Retirement benefits scheme contribution 54 54
1,133 1,133

BEZZ)NFE+HA=+—HIL4E
B HEBRWA (CEELE - MA) i
[ N Eo e i

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the emoluments of the
remaining two (2007: two) highest paid individuals are within
the following band:

ZRENE T
2008 2007
% — 1,000,000 % 7T Nil-HK$1,000,000 2 2

T T I 4F BE 1AL > A 4 TSI B i) 37
FF AL (EEERE LR R) TR
P 2= > A 5 S I A R A A
V) S P R B £

82 R B RA R R R

No emoluments were paid to the five highest individuals
including directors and employees as inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
in both years.



11. @ B3R A

v B A B R B A i BLE > AR
A B R N E 2 s AR B
T (B 7 AR AR S AR R R A R
BHEARFEMN17%—20% ( “FEFL
A1 17%—20%) © & B IRIRIRE A 1
A E B AR ARG B B R ST -
Wit 2 ) B A A R 3k A - B2 ST
MR R 4 > JREZH A R B 1R IRE
EA e MEZZENF+H =+ —
H ook 4 B BARE# B4 5
2,094,000 70 ( —EEF 1 4F 11,531,000
WI0) o w%alH Bk RN R R -

AREEE NEFBEENARH -F
TEESFTA—HEEZ2HEGBRE &
B (T aes# ) o Zakdl A e s
PR IR & 58 - 32A FH H R B
FEARF & 5% M aE B R - HEC
FEENE+ A=+ —HILEE > &
45 9] 1) B A A w1 AR 2K A 54,000 ¥ oG
(B E-LMHE 0 54000870) o M4
B B A [ ) A B A > T
P 7 B LS G R PRSI o Rt
E€ird i

12. A2 ) BB SRMEAN (M5 48L) %k A

AN w R g R E A 47 A (518 Uik
P35 k518 47 12,710,000 4 o0 ( —FE
B4 #E 156,087,000 98) 5 #Z% K
TH LA AR A ) PAHS #3214 4L o

11.

12.

Notes to the Financial Statements

AR TR N T

HEEZT)NE+ZH=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

EMPLOYMENT RETIREMENT BENEFITS

As stipulated by the relevant rules and regulations in the
PRC, the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are required to
contribute to a state-sponsored retirement plan for all of their
employees based on 17% to 20% (2007: 17% to 20%) of the
employee’s basic salary. The state-sponsored retirement plan
is responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
retired employees and the PRC subsidiaries of the Company
have no further obligations for the actual pension payments or
other post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions.
For the year ended 31 December 2008, the retirement plan
contributions amounted to approximately HKS$2,094,000
(2007: HK$1,531,000). Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

A company in the Group operating in Hong Kong has
participated in Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”), which is a defined contribution pension scheme,
since 1 December 2000. The Company makes monthly
contributions to the scheme based on 5% of the employees’
basic salaries. For the year ended 31 December 2008, the
Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme were approximately
HK$54,000 (2007: HK$54,000). The assets of the fund are
held separately from those of the Group and are managed by
independent professional fund managers. Contributions to the
plan vest progressively.

(LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The consolidated (loss)/profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company includes a loss of approximately
HKS$12,710,000 (2007: profit of HK$156,087,000) which has
been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.
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WA 3R B

WEFF N+ A S H IR
For the year ended 31 December 2008

13. A 13. DIVIDENDS
“RBNE —FTLHF
2008 2007
T#x THIT
HKS$°000 HKS$000
ELE R NG S A A Interim dividend declared and
MBS paid: HK$0.01 (2007: HK$0.01)
f0.01 % 7T per ordinary share
(ZETLH:
0.01 #tT) 14,211 14,211
H5 0 H % AR IR B Final dividend proposed after balance
AR sheet date: HK$Nil (2007: HK$0.04)
g Bt 7 I & s T per ordinary share
(ZFFL4H
0.04#7C) - 56,846
14,211 71,057
BEZZNEL _A=Z+—HILF No final dividend has been proposed by directors for the year
B R AR RIRE A E i ended 31 December 2008 and final dividend of HK$0.04 per
BE XX LFE+A=+—HI4F ordinary share has been proposed by directors for the year
JBE o R IR B AR R R ended 31 December 2007.
[ 0.04 # 7T
A H R R UREE 2 K M S &5 The final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date has
H G AR SR B B AR o not been recognised as a liability at the balance sheet date.
14. 8 OE8),#B# 14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
a) R (FR) &R a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share
BREA(ER) BRI The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based
P AR N W) 3 A R E A on the loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders
$5170,972,000% 6 ( = F F & of the Company of HKS$170,972,000 (2007: profit
4F ¢ i A1 295,045,000 #OT) KA of HKS$295,045,000) and the weighted average of
AF B OB AT 5 B I RE ST 2 B 1,421,143,000 (2007: 1,421,143,000) ordinary shares in
1,421,143,000 It ( — F & L 4 - issue during the year.
1,421,143,000 %) 5H55 -
b) B OEE), B b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share
BE_FFLET+_HA=1+— The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the
H IE 4R B 2 4 I 3 2 R T AR year ended 31 December 2007 is based on the profit
P A 2\ ) 3 4 A O M A T attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
#1295,045,000 # T M % PL R Company of HK$295,045,000 and the weighted average
J5 2 FEF A A R B T 25 8 number of ordinary shares of 1,421,830,000 shares
1,421,830,000 &7H5 - calculated as follows:
MR L ERARAR  FBR)\ER



14. 8 (8D~ 8A (41)
b) BRI Ol BRI ()
RTS8 ()

Notes to the Financial Statements

PAS R T
BEFTE/\ETA =R ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (Continued)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

It ¥ H

Number of shares

W_EFELEFZH=1+—HZ Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Rl Al

as at 31 December 2007 1,421,143,000

HRAEA S R CHE R IR AR DA
RBERATIC G 2 %2 (5T 32)

REBFLEFAST—H2

Effect of deemed issued of shares under the Company’s
share option scheme for nil consideration (note 32) 687,000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

WA A2 RS B ()

BE_FEZNETA=1T—H
E A B 2 A PR 4 A 18, BT R
ARG AR R 2 A B R AT (5
JBEAE 2 VAR RE A1 I LA S
HAEH -

15. 2 3UE ¥

IrBUEDRHE AR [ 365 2 3t 8 70 S
B o ST M BT AL I 1Y 1R B
e R 0 A B T > R MR8 s
MR 2Hr A -

a) EHIB

AR ] Y T T B SE S 0
LU

Mt o REREERLE S
(ELAE HEGE )

Mok B R T K G
(6 455 1o T P 5 8 o %
219

as at 31 December 2007 1,421,830,000

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2008 is same as the basic loss per share as the potential
additional ordinary shares in respect of outstanding
share options are anti-dilutive.

15. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s
business and geographical segments. Business segment
information is chosen as the primary reporting format
because this is more relevant to the Group’s internal financial
reporting.

a) Business segments

The Group operates the following two main business

segments:

Rare Earth : The manufacture and sales of rare
earth products (including fluorescent
products)

Refractory : The manufacture and sales of

refractory products (including high
temperature ceramics products and
magnesium grains)
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BB R M

BWE ETNE+F A=+ —HILEE

For the year ended 31 December 2008

15. BOEF 4

15. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

a) REAB(H) a) Business segments (Continued)
e R Consolidated income statement
fit [LES M
Rare earth Refractory Total
“ERNE CFTLE RN “ZTLE “BINE _IZTLE
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
T#T T T#r THT T#x THT
HK$000  HKS$'000  HK$’000  HKS$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
#HE+-HA=+—H  Forthe year ended
LR 31 December
g Revenue 618,637 713,630 746,253 671,715 1,364,890 1,385,345
ET RESULTS
MEES Segment results (14,960) 169,692 (04,771) 219,675 (109,731) 389,367
FBhEE M Unallocated
corporate expenses (12,782) (9,356)
Hoftoe g Other revenue 13,554 18,910
LN ] Other income, net 696 2,440
PR AR Finance costs (10,288) (5,227)
BrBi (sd8) /%A (Loss)/profit before
taxation (118,551) 396,134
s Income tax (53,856)  (97,054)
AR (58) /5 F  (Loss)/profit for the year (172,407) 299,080
L ER Other information
ER U Depreciation on
el o property, plant and
equipment 44,100 38,417 47,847 43332 91,947 81,749
RAFHTE Unallocated depreciation 9 47
91,956 81,796
BEMEHTZ Amortisation of
AL 1 4 prepaid lease
payments on
land under
operating leases 1,985 1,829 2,530 1,372 4,515 3,201
T2 HiiEE Impairment loss on
goodwill - - 208,804 208,804 -
VER Impairment loss on
&2 W lEER property, plant and
equipment 46,371 - 51,127 97,498 -
JEQTIR 2 S LA RE ik Tmpairment loss on trade
Z Wi and other
receivables 1,069 542 21,020 1,394 22,089 1,936
R L ERARA R CRBR)\ER
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Notes to the Financial Statements

AR TR N T

HEEZT)NE+ZH=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

15. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

a) Business segments (Continued)

Consolidated income statement (Continued)

fit L7 Hm

Rare earth Refractory Total
“ERIAE CERTLE CRFRAE CTRLE CRRNE CTRLE
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

TH#L T T#xL TibT T#L T
HKS’000  HKS'000  HKS'000 _ HK$'000  HKS'000 _ HKS'000

JENTIE 2K SO MURE Nk Write back of
b A icto! impairment loss on
trade and other
receivables (906) (612) (3,318) (1,154) (4,224) (1,766)
WEME - BE R Net loss on disposal of
W 2 R property, plant
and equipment (43) 2,020 9,537 33,293 9,494 35,313
IER NG Revaluation deficit
Z E A4 on property, plant
and equipment 17,254 - 12,392 - 29,646 -
1 B Write down of
inventories 35,920 7,119 1,631 2,796 37,551 9,915
HE 5. 4 1R Net exchange gain (158)  (12,823) (1,597)  (28,124) (1,755)  (40,947)
RO IRL Unallocated exchange loss 48 _
(1,707) (40,947)
A EEAMER Consolidated balance sheet
fit Wik Lk
Rare earth Refractory Total
ZEBMNE CETLE ZRRNE ZRLLE ZBRNE RELY
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
T#x T T#r Fifr T#x Fikr
HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$’000  HKS'000
IZH=+—H  Asat3l December
DGR Segment assets 1,664,143 1,154,628 1,350,327  1,548446 3,014,470 2,703,074
ANBEE Unallocated assets 199,866 95,190
B (E Total assets 3,214,336 2,798,264
A Segment liabilities 413,286 154320 142,630 91,631 555,916 245,951
KB AR Unallocated
liabilities 184,891 2,389
B EAE Total liabilities 740,807 248,340
BATH Capital expenditure 457,341 61,586 136,087 203,223 593,428 264,809
ROBERT Unallocated
capital expenditure 11 15
A A Total capital expenditure 593,439 264,824
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WA 3R B

BE_ZZ/FETZH=1T—HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

15. &R 4
b) HBIE I
REMMPYER EEAALEFRH - H

A~ B KRBT o IREE S
e A A2 i[85 JE R o OIS 3 43

15. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

b) Geographical segments

The Group’s activities are conducted predominantly
in the PRC, Japan, Europe and the United States
of America. An analysis of segment revenue by

Hran R - geographical area based on the geographical location of
its customers is as follows:
A 1
The Group
“RENE —EFLLE
2008 2007
TFH#T T
HKS$’000 HK3$’000
F 58] The PRC 1,071,975 1,145,394
H 7 Japan 191,564 133,098
R Europe 82,000 73,482
ESlC The United States of America 15,998 26,277
Hofte Others 3,353 7,094

K [ R 90% (1) BUE = XY
¥ B RGRAEEE - REHE
TH T T AT+ sl 4 K ST B E Y
PR (AAEEE ) o

MR L ERARAR  FBR)\ER

1,364,890 1,385,345

Over 90% of segment assets and additions to property,
plant and equipment, prepaid lease payments on land
under operating leases and intangible assets of the Group
are located in the PRC including Hong Kong.
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AR TR N T

HEEZT)NE+ZH=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

16. W% 16. GOODWILL
ARLEH The Group
T#C
HK$’000
L% Cost
W oEELFE—H—H At 1 January 2007 202,242
IEE%;; Exchange differences 4,463
HoEELEFH=+—H At 31 December 2007 and 1 January 2008
B =ERENE—~H—H 206,705
WA B BT S 2 ) (B 5 34(a) B2 (b)) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34(a) & (b)) 85,843
T 5, 26 52 Exchange differences 4,336
WEENFEFZH=+—H At 31 December 2008 296,884
Eé‘fﬁ{ﬁ Accumulated impairment
N_FEELHE—H—H At 1 January 2007, 31 December 2007
“EEFLE+ZH=+—H and 1 January 2008
L= ZFN\F—H—H -
I E R Impairment loss 208,804
[ifE 53,25 B Exchange differences 2,237
WEEENFEFZH=+—H At 31 December 2008 211,041
Eﬁ{ﬁ Carrying amount
NoEENEFZH=+—H At 31 December 2008 85,843
WZEEZLFE+ZA=+—H

il 350 2 45 VL ([ Dol 3 B 4 WL Ao |) (4
5 0B ) Z WA R

PR 20 B 2 0 AR IR S 0 S e R
AR e B BEA

At 31 December 2007 206,705

Impairment test for cash-generating unit (“CGU”)
containing goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGU identified according
to business segment as follows:

A M
The Group
“EENE ELTLE
2008 2007

T#x Ti#or
HK$°000  HKS$'000

Tt 88 (Bt a) Rare earth
i K 3 K (B EE D) Refractory

segment (note a) 85,843 -
segment (note b) 211,041 206,705

296,384 206,705
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BE_ZZ/FETZH=1T—HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

16. W% 4)

(a)  ERBEMENE > LB Z HRTIRA
A SR 2N ) (B3 34) e 4 o

RS ) PGS e
B o

MEZRENEFZH=+—H > KEEZ
5 Bl A 412 [ Sf7 408 B 7 2 B0 ST A LA
1R 30 S £ P A R ) (T At
Wi D) At Z REAl > SR T S B < B
iz Z A B AEAT AR o i b 2 S B
S LA 2 P g o] < A T AR R T (B (Lt O
iR o WA RO AR R L 2
AR ] 2 B BB (R 23 TR
Bl < B B0 -4 3605 R RS AR TG Wt
2 Bl RTHA o 8 AN 2 B
BT NI 2 R RIER - R
SR SR A 0 SR B < L0 o A
W2 A BRI R -

B (R 55 B ) 2 AR

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Note:

(2)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill of rare earth segment
arose from acquisition of subsidiaries (see note 34) during the current
year.

Subsidiaries acquired during the year are principally engaged in rare earth
business.

As at 31 December 2008, the Group performed an impairment review for
the CGU of rare earth segment with reference to the valuation carried
out by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited (“Vigers”), independent
qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group. The
recoverable amount of the CGU of rare earth segment is determined based
on value in use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period, which is based on the average business and operation life over the
CGU of rare earth segment. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using the estimated rates stated below. The growth rates do
not exceed the respective long-term average growth rates for the business
in which the CGU of rare earth segment operates.

Key assumptions used for value in use calculations:

4R
The Group
ZRERN\E
2008
T#x
HKS$’000

A%
R
S

Gross margin
Growth rate
Discount rate

O AR A A0 1 R B T S T 8 B 2 T
i E TR BRI o ZITBUR L BLAT > 37
WA B 20 25 2 05 5 J B

AR O P B (B - 6 20 S B < B
iz 22 T i I < e S L AR T (o PRI 5 Y
BE_FTZNGF+_A=Z+—HILFEZ
o B 1R A R A SIS T R R
BEEH o

90 R B RA R R R

33-41%
0%
13-14%

Management determined the budgeted gross margin based on past
performance and its expectation for market development. This discount
rate used is pre-tax rates and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
segment.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU of rare earth segment is higher than
their carrying amount based on value in use calculations. Accordingly,
no impairment loss on goodwill of rare earth segment is recognised in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2008.



16. V2 (4

Bt

(b)

(%)

LR R =R P Pk gz S
SEEFENE—A A R FRRAE
T = R 5 e U P AT
BR8] (T e T P 5 1) i o i ok v B A
FRAS R (#5945 SET 1) 100% JREHERFE A2 o

v UL A A B = A S ot O ST o

7R 4E B S AR £9207,000,0009 7 1 B 7
HR B Y TR T P e AR R A o A%
I 1S £ A 5 T R HL ot ke ek S
B U > SN0 A A A A o M
T Al o
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BE_ZZNFE+_A=1—HILFEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(b)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill of refractory segment
arose from the acquisitions of 100% equity interests in Wuxi Xinwei High
Temperature Ceramics Co., Ltd. (“High Temperature Ceramics”) and
Haicheng City Suhai Magnesium Ore Co., Ltd. (“Suhai Magnesium”) on
29 January 2004 and 23 December 2005 respectively.

High Temperature Ceramics and Suhai Magnesium are principally
engaged in refractory business.

The Group paid a consideration of approximately HK$207,000,000 to
acquire High Temperature Ceramics in the PRC. The directors of the
Company believe that the acquisition allowed the Group to broaden
the product category of its refractory materials business to cover high
temperature ceramics products and generate higher profit for the Group.

The Group paid a consideration of approximately HK$115,385,000 to
acquire Suhai Magnesium in the PRC so as to access to raw materials
supply and upstream business for the refractory products and presented
the Group with a new source of profit. In addition, the directors of
the Company believe that the Group will ride on Suhai Magnesium’s
advantage of proximity to magnesium resources to develop high purity
magnesium grains business.

At the balance sheet date, the goodwill of refractory segment are arising
from the acquisition of subsidiaries as follows:

A 4R

The Group
ZRRNAE R
2008 2007
T#r Tt
HKS$°000 HKS$000
10 1 ) High Temperature Ceramics 136,540 136,540
Tk v £E Suhai Magnesium 74,501 70,165
211,041 206,705
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16. V2 41
Fff5E ()
(b) (4%)

REFFNEFZA=+—H - AEMS
% B A% T AT 2 WA > S KA SU R
Bl AL 2 WA WIRUETT AR o T K
SR L < B 2 T i I < AT AR R D A
ERMA R E o %5 iR (AR 0 28 o A1t
YR 25 Y 4F ) ] 2 B T G (A Tl K
SRR B <5 B2 PSP 2 S5 B AL A T
) HE 2 BB B - B AR 2
B4 Ui &G 60 R SO 2 il R R A
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37 Jir K885 265 2 A BRI TSR R o

o B (RS9 B ) 2 AR

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2008, the Group performed an impairment review for
the CGU of refractory segment with reference to the valuation carried
out by Vigers. The recoverable amount of the CGU of refractory segment
is determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a four-year period, which is based on the average
business and operation life over the CGU of the refractory segment. Cash
flows beyond the four-year period are extrapolated using the estimated
rates stated below. The growth rates do not exceed the respective long-
term average growth rates for the business in which the CGU of refractory
segment operates.

Key assumptions used for value in use calculations:

A

The Group
TRENAE ZEELE
2008 2007
T T
HKS$’000 HKS$’000
Ef = Gross margin 28-35% 42-47%
HMRE Growth rate 3% 3-5%
PrEiE Discount rate 13% 11%

O AR A 1 R B R B T 0 B 2
it E T B o ZITBUR L BLAT > 37
WA B 20 25 2 0 5 J B

AR5 {6 R S T 4 e B B
kR A T Qe o G S v G P B A 3
G A 1R A5 3R A 7 BOTE B T R 8 (E A 4E
208,804,000 # 70 (—FE-L4E: Bor) o

92 R B RA R R R

Management determined the budgeted gross margin based on past
performance and its expectation for market development. This discount
rate used is pre-tax rates and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant

segment.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU of refractory segment are
insignificant based on value in use calculations. Accordingly, full
impairment loss of HK$208,804,000 (2007: HK$Nil) on goodwill is
recognised in the consolidated income statement.



17. Y3k ~ W B i i

a)

Notes to the Financial Statements

AR TR N T

HEEZT)NE+ZH=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

A4 a) The Group
Eidi YT |
§)iiP2 S T | REHE Wi IR W
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor  Construction-
ownuse  equipment and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total
Fer  Fée TEE 70 TBE T
HEKS'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HEKS$'000 HKS'000
WA Cost or valuation
BEEZLFE—H—H  AtlJanuary 2007 206,725 620,060 5917 4,165 57,037 893,904
RE Additions 115 14,334 27 1,755 233,692 250,173
M THREA Transfer from construction-in-
progress 18,749 119,838 = = (138,587) =
EE Disposals - (82,903) (124) (1,249) - (84,276)
RIS Elimination of accumulated
depreciation (79,623) - - - - (79,623)
iR Exchange differences 14,682 43,855 384 300 7,103 66,324
BT At 31 December 2007
+=A=1—H and 1 January 2008
R=ZENE-A—H 160,648 715,184 6,454 4,971 15945 1,046,502
IR Acquisition of subsidiaries
(B3t 34(a) B2 (b)) (note 34(a) & (b)) 27,395 13,894 265 1,329 - 42,883
ERRRFE (i) Netsurplus on
revaluation (note if) 10,941 - - - - 10,941
KE Additions 120 8,707 256 215 64,572 73,870
HfEE THREA Transfer from construction-in-
progress 58,757 101,852 - - (160,609) -
B Disposals - (27,630 - (161) - (27,791)
AT Elimination of accumulated
depreciation (14,354) = = = = (14,354)
ERER Exchange differences 12,089 46,764 385 308 6,868 66,414
MR At 31 December 2008
FZA=1—H 255,596 858,771 7,360 6,662 70,076 1,198,465
o Comprising;
REZBNE At 31 December 2008
Ry
A At cost - 858,771 7,360 6,662 70,076 942,869
b E At valuation 255,596 = = = = 255,596
255,596 858,771 7,360 6,662 70,076 1,198,465
MEEELE At 31 December 2007
+ZA=1-H
A At cost - 715,184 6,454 4971 159,245 885,854
RhE At valuation 160,648 - - - - 160,648
160,648 715,184 6,454 4971 159,245 1,046,502
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17. Y938 ~ Bl B i (42) 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)
a) A (4F) a) The Group (Continued)
sl et i

E)iF2 SO 1) T | 3 Tl IR |

Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor Construction-
ownuse  equipment and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total

T#x T#x T#x Ti#x Ti#x Ti#x
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

Bk Rwf Accumulated

depreciation
and impairment
RoFZEEE-A—H  Atl January 2007 63,476 253,910 5,013 2,668 - 305,067
ARt Charge for the year 11,447 68,979 678 692 - 81,79
AR Written back on
disposals - #7,573) (124) (322) - 48,019)
B Elimination on
revaluation (79,623) - - - - (79,623)
EHER Exchange differences 4,700 17972 339 197 - 23,208
REEELEL A At 31 December 2007
=t-Ak and 1 January 2008 - 293,288 5,906 3,235 - 302,429
ZEZENF—A—R
RAEEHE Charge for the year 13,923 77,198 218 617 - 91,956
AR Written back on
disposals - (18,091) - 67) - (18,158)
LB 3k i) Impairment loss
(note i) - 97,498 - - - 97,498
EANEIN Elimination on
revaluation (14,354) = = = = (14,354)
B Exchange differences #1 2,97 35 215 - 23,970
NREN\E At 31 December 2008
ToAZt-A - 472,865 6,476 4,000 - 483 341
T i Carrying amount
REZZNE At31 December 2008
+oA=1-H 255,596 385,906 884 2,662 70,076 715,124
REFELE At31 December 2007
ToAZt-A 160,648 421,89 548 1,736 159,045 744,073
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17. W3 ~ Wl Bkt ()

a) MM ()

)

iii)

FrfE B AR A0 B AR
EHIHA A 2 i

AL AR Z TR
FEMNEF_HA=+T—HZ
Al AR R RS (W &
Fil £y 1% B Sl 0 7 2
AR KAL) R e% B ST
Z A {E IR AR B - A B b (E
T3 DA B A I B AT
DAAT BRI = 2 oAt ot i T 72
N R SR
% B2 - IR - KB
IREIRAL M IR IR 3R AT REAR
B BRFOE A1 R T

FEE R8T EMHN
BB E B E A BB
40,587,000 7 JC K Al s At
29,646,000 #& 7T 2 4 Il i ik
5 R hp A HE 3R R A HERE

ATERENEFZH = —
H> MaZEfefEQ 2 M
TR AR W B E T R
8 %1 8 > HIBR T (H % 2
244,655,000 i 0 (—FE L
4E 1 160,648,000 7C) ©

HME EE)NE+ A
=+—HIEFEE > ARAE
TR K ATy > ZIEE S
Bt B WAE - [RBE > A
L G 2 SRS T s 2
A Ui ] A RE o AR R R IRGEE
il > W Kt fh 2 B T (AL
197,498,000 #& 7T o fhi{E )Y
MR A A 30T 225 B Re T 35080
IR st - FHATE BT
AN B gk e B
Bttt 2 A > Sl BRI 4R
KA TR BBRE > %A BT
5 KA B L AR AT -

Notes to the Financial Statements

PAS R T
BEFTE/\ETA =R ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

a) The Group (Continued)

i)

ii)

iii)

The buildings held for own use are situated on land
held under medium-term leases in the PRC.

The revaluation of the Group’s buildings held for
own use as at 31 December 2008 has been arrived
at on the basis of valuations carried out on that
date by, Vigers which is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors, and has appropriate
qualifications and experience. The valuation has
been valued by the depreciable replacement cost
approach arrived at the aggregate amount of the
new replacement cost of the buildings and other site
works, from which appropriate deductions may then
be made to account for the age, condition, economic
or functional obsolescence and environmental
factor.

Net surplus on revaluation for buildings held
for own use includes revaluation surplus of
HKS$40,587,000 and revaluation deficit of
HK$29,646,000 have been recognised in reserves
and consolidated income statement respectively.

As at 31 December 2008, had these buildings held
for own use been carried at cost less accumulated
depreciated and impairment, the carrying amount
would have been HKS$244,655,000 (2007:
HK$160,648,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2008, a number
of machinery and equipment were impaired due
to physical damage and technical obsolescence.
As a result, the Group assessed the recoverable
amounts of those machinery and equipment. Based
on this assessment, the carrying amount of the
machinery and equipment was written down by
HK$97,498,000. Valuation has been performed by
Vigers on the basis of open market and depreciable
replacement cost by making reference on the cost
required to reproduce or replace the machinery and
equipment in new condition in accordance with
current market prices for similar machinery and
equipment and deducting the physical deterioration
and all relevant forms of obsolescence.
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PARS R M

BE-ERT/FEHA=T—HIEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2008

17. Y3k ~ W B et 4)

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)
b) AAFE b) The Company
e S8 S B R
Office
equipment
and fixtures
T#x
HKS$’000
B Cost
W oFELF—H—H At 1 January 2007 356
NHE Additions 15
i Disposals 27)
AN o2 S5 s By el At 31 December 2007
Fo =BT J\AF— and 1 January 2008 344
INE Additions 1
RZFEENFEFZH =Z+—H At 31 December 2008 345
Bl g Accumulated depreciation
MoZFZELHF—H—H At 1 January 2007 296
A BE TR Charge for the year 47
Ji% B 1 [E] Written back on disposals (27)
ATERLETH=1—H At 31 December 2007
M =FRBNF—H—H and 1 January 2008 316
AAEFEFHR Charge for the year 9
R_ZENFE+_A=+—H At 31 December 2008 325
IR o Carrying amount
AZEENFEFZH=Z+—H At 31 December 2008 20
R_ZEZLFE+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2007 28

MR L ERARAR  FBR)\ER



Notes to the Financial Statements

AR TR N T

BE_ZZNFE+_A=1—HILFEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

18. BMEMEWE FHA LAS 18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND
UNDER OPERATING LEASES

AR
The Group
“EENE BT
2008 2007

T#x T#or
HK$°000  HKS$'000

#—H—H ZRHE Carrying amount at 1 January 163,121 141,662
A B B Jg 2 ) Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34(a) & (b))

(Bff & 34(a) & (b)) 34,017 —
NHE Additions 63,655 14,651
A AT AR Amortisation for the year (4,515) (3,201)
[ifE 5,25 B Exchange differences 11,912 10,009
W+ H=1+—H Carrying amount at 31 December

ZHRTHI{E 268,190 163,121
A H B 2 A Leasehold land in the PRC:

S ik Medium-term leases 268,190 163,121
R HmIES 2 Analysed for reporting

ST purposes as:

L B Current asset 5,746 3,508

FERBEE Non-current asset 262,444 159,613

268,190 163,121

A AR BRI 8 S 421,000 3500 (—FE The amortisation charge of HK$421,000 (2007: HK$315,000)
L4 315,000 #70) 5 4,094,000 ¥ I and HK$4,094,000 (2007: HKS$2,886,000) for the year
(ZFLLAF 2 2,886,000 70) 43 Al 5T is included in cost of sales and administrative expenses
Af7a R R 8 & AR S B2 respectively in the consolidated income statement.
A o
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BB R M

BWE ETNE+F A=+ —HILEE

For the year ended 31 December 2008

19. L& E

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

A 45 The Group
U ER 2]
UEZs it
LU ER t] 2Bl BRERZ
B R BRI B SR Rk it
Technical
Exclusive  know-how for
rightto  preliminary Technical
purchase separation  know-how for
rare earth  of rare earth rare earth
minerals minerals metal products Total
T#E  TEE  T#E TE#E
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
A Cost
NEELE-H—H At 1 January 2007,
“ERLEF A=t N 31 December 2007
IZFENE—H—H and 1 January 2008 - - - -
5 A JE 8 ) Acquisition of subsidiaries
(it 3E 34(a) 2 (b)) (note 34(a) & (b)) 201,502 61,687 115,825 379,014
RZEENEFZA=+—H At 31 December 2008 201,502 61,687 115,825 379,014
ok B Wt Accumulated amortisation
and impairment
ANEELFE-A—H At 1 January 2007,
“ERLEF A=t N 31 December 2007
I Z_FENE—H—H and 1 January 2008 - - - -
AT S Amortisation for the year - - - -
WA Impairment loss - - _ _
REZFZNEFZA=F—H At 31 December 2008 - - - -
Wi i Carrying amount
NEENEFZAZT—H At 31 December 2008 201,502 61,687 115,825 379,014

REFFLEFZA=1—H

98 R B RA R R R

At 31 December 2007 -
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PAS R T
BEFTE/\ETA =R ILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group (Continued)

a)

Exclusive right to purchase rare earth minerals

On 15 November 2007, Jianghua Yao Nationality
Autonomous County Xinghua Rare Earth Company
Limited (“Xinghua Rare Earth”) entered into an
agreement for exclusive right to purchase rare earth
minerals (“Purchase Agreement”) from a rare earth
minerals supplier (“the Supplier”), a company established
in the PRC with exclusive rare earth mining right
granted by the local government for exploiting rare
earth minerals from a mine located in Jianghua County
of Hunan Province, the PRC. Pursuant to the Purchase
Agreement, the Supplier agreed to exclusively sell rare
earth minerals to Xinghua Rare Earth throughout a period
of 20 years expiring on 30 November 2027. During the
20-year period, Xinghua Rare Earth is entitled to the
exclusive right to purchase rare earth minerals from the
Supplier.

The exclusive right to purchase rare earth minerals was
acquired as part of the business combination of Xinghua
Rare Earth during the year ended 31 December 2008,
details of which are set out in note 34(b).

The exclusive right to purchase rare earth minerals has
finite useful life and is amortised on a straight line basis
over the estimated useful live of 16 years with reference
to the minerals of the rare earth mine available for use.
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19. SO & 2 (47)
A ()

b) i L ERYII L o) B B S
ik

% 3¢ i 245 R0 i BEL 9 T n
W B e SR A e A8 ) 22 e - TR ) )
Ao BERCHTA B > AAF 2 R
“EENFEF A=+ —HILF
JEE A s B L e G - 265 5 F 2 A
JERAR > EwE AR EOR B RE34(D) ©

B9l =L 2 0 5k B A A R AR
PR > Fe B AR R FL AR F 1 AT 47
PR 10 AT HESY o

o) M E b O RSl

R 00 S Rk LA B T B
i LB i 2 BATA B - AR B
BE_ZXEF/NELA=1T—H
4 B R i il A TR B A A
AR BRA F (T H + 1) 265
G UF 2 AR A T O B
7E34(a) °

Al 5 2 50 5k B A A R AR
1) > 4% B AR R HAL R A AR
HA 10 AT kS o

ANFEHBL > RFFNEH
H=+—H > M5 S ER -y
T8 8 TR AR e S 5 A R b 22 R T
B E o U TS AR O
# o

MR L ERARAR  FBR)\ER

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group (Continued)

b)

)

Technical know-how for preliminary separation of rare
earth minerals

The technical know-how relates to the technology
on the preliminary separation of rare earth minerals
with reduction in certain processing phases and raw
materials usage, and was acquired as part of the business
combination of Xinghua Rare Earth during the year
ended 31 December 2008, details of which are set out in
note 34(b).

The technical know-how has finite useful live and is
amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated
useful live of 10 years,

Technical know-how for rare earth metal products

The technical know-how relates to the technology on
manufacturing of rare earth products in metal form was
acquired as part of the business combination of Heping
County Dongye Rare Earth Company Limited (“Dongye
Rare Earth”) during the year ended 31 December 2008,
details of which are set out in note 34(a).

The technical know-how has finite useful live and is
amortised on a straight line basis over its estimated
useful live of 10 years.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that there is

no indication of impairment in the carrying amounts of the

exclusive right to purchase rare earth minerals and technical

know-how as at 31 December 2008 and accordingly no

impairment is necessary.
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21.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
A e B

BE_ZZNFE+_A=1—HILFEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

20. DEPOSIT FOR ACQUISITION OF

INTERESTS IN LAND UNDER OPERATING
LEASES

On 30 August 2006 and 23 May 2007, a subsidiary of the
Company entered into two agreements with Haicheng
City Government in the PRC for the acquisition of a piece
of land for a consideration of RMB59,500,000. As at 31
December 2007, the deposit of RMB51,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$54,998,000) has been paid for application
of title document of the land. During the year ended 31
December 2008, the land use right certificate was obtained and
the deposit has been transferred to prepaid lease payments on
land under operating leases.

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

A
The Company
“EENE BT LE

2008 2007

F#x T

HKS$’000 HK3$000

JE ETi Ay > FmiAE  Unlisted shares, at cost 151,707 151,707

AZFRNEFZA=+—H o W
NAFHEWT -

At as 31 December 2008, the details of subsidiaries are as
follows:
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21. RAWE A Rl 2 BEE (41) 21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

A/ g i titg CHiR AR R/
W2 21 ZERAH L CARERA  CBRBA  HRRERATR A LRRH
Place and Effective percentage of
date of Registered Issued and equity interests/voting
incorporation/ Class of and fully fully paid rights held by the Principal
Name of subsidiary operations shares held paid capital capital Company activities
ik Wk
Directly Indirectly
% %
HRERARAR ERELRE Tk - WER 100 - BERR
“IAETZAZR
Lee Shing Holdings British Virgin Ordinary - US$20 100 - Tnvestment
Limited Islands holding
3 December 1998
RRABES (L) HRAT il N7 200000 %7 - 100 - 25
ZEEFECAZTWA
Wellfire (Shanghai) The PRC Contributed US$200,000 - 100 - Trading
Company Limited 24 February 2000 capital
Dynamic Goal Worldwide Inc. RERLHE Tl - I - 100 f BN
“RERFRA=T-H
Dynamic Goal British Virgin Ordinary = Uss2 = 100 Investment
Worldwide Inc. Islands holding
31 May 2000
HEMEARRLARAA o NS 15,660,000 %72 - - 95 RERHERL
“IAZELATLH AltER
Yixing Xinwei The PRC Contributed US$15,660,000 - - 95 Manufacturing
Leeshing Rare Earth 17 July 1993 capital and sales of rare
Company Limited earth oxide
products
BRI RARLT  H NS 17,000,000 %7€ - - 100 RERHE
“IANELR=TR it
Yixing Xinwei The PRC Contributed US817,000,000 - - 100 Manufacturing
Leeshing Refractory 30 July 1999 capital and sales of
Materials Co., Ltd. refractory
products
R L ERARAT  2R)\ER
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BE_ZZNFE+_A=1—HILFEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

21. B A A 28 H 4 21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

i3] AV g i [iia CH#R AR/
W2l 21 ZHERIN L UsRmRA  CERRA  ARTERATEGAR LREH
Place and Effective percentage of
date of Registered Issued and equity interests/voting
incorporation/ Class of and fully fully paid rights held by the Principal
Name of subsidiary operations shares held paid capital capital Company activities
ik Wk
Directly Indirectly
% %
EHRRIERAE R AT il NS 8,520,000 %7 - - 100 BERHE
< S A R RAER
Wuxi Xinwei The PRC Contributed US$8,520,000 - - 100 Manufacturing
Fluorescent 20 December 2001 capital and sales of
Materials Co., Ltd. fluorescent
products
MHERARAR B EiEk - 27 - 100 A B
“MANEHAZFER Bk
Microtech Resources Hong Kong Ordinary - HKS2 - 100 Not yet
Limited 23 October 1998 commenced
business
HERLEAHRAR ik Tk - 2T - 100 HAR
ZFEFEZAZTmA B%
China Rare Earth Hong Kong Ordinary - HKS2 - 100 Not yet
Trading Limited 24 March 2000 commenced
business
EHVERLRRARLT il BARA 30,000,000 %78 - - 100 HERHE
“FRTHEMA-A FRERE S
Wuxi Xinwei High The PRC Contributed HK$30,000,000 - = 100 Manufacturing
Temperature Ceramics 1 April 2002 capital and sales of
Co., Ltd. high
temperature
ceramics
products
TR A A il BAER  ARH25,000,000C - - 100 RERHE
“RFCEMAZ LA GOER
Haicheng City Suhai The PRC Contributed RMB25,000,000 - - 100 Manufacturing
Magnesium Ote Co., 27 April 2002 capital and sales of
Ltd. magnesium
products

Annual Report 2008 China Rare Earth Holdings Limited



Notes to the Financial Statements
WA 3R B
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21. RAWE A Rl 2 BEE (41) 21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

o B A PR W

AL/ B iR titg CHiR AR R/
WBAT 4 ZERAH L CARRA  CERRA  HRRERTRAT A LRRH
Place and Effective percentage of
date of Registered Issued and equity interests/voting
incorporation/ Class of and fully fully paid rights held by the Principal
Name of subsidiary operations shares held paid capital capital Company activities
ik Mk
Directly Indirectly
% %
HERWHESRIBARLA  WH N -2 3,000,000 %7 - - 100 HERHE
“RENENAZ TR itk HBE
Yixing Wellfire The PRC Contributed US$3,000,000 = = 100 Manufacturing
Nonmetal Materials 27 September 2006 capital and sales of
Co., Ltd. refractory related
products
TR RS R AR A i 1N -T 3,500,000 %76 - - 00 HERE
“EENELAZTAR B
Hai Cheng Xinwei The PRC Contributed 583,500,000 - - 100 Not yet
Leeshing Magnesium 28 September 2006 capital commenced
Resources Co., Ltd. business
HRRERLRIRARAT A BIAEA  ARM200000007C - - 95 RERHE
“EERET-ATER wtemiE
Heping County The PRC Contribution RMB20,000000 - - 95 Manufacturing
Dongye Rare Earth 15 November 2005 capital and sales of
Company Limited rare earth
metal
products
IR RFRERT i BAER  ARH20,000,0007T - - 95 HERHE
A RAT “EEREEAZTZH iR )
Jianghua Yao Nationality The PRC Contribution ~ RMB20,000,000 - - 95 Manufacturing
Autonomaus County Xinghua 22 May 2006 capital and sales of rare
Rare Earth Company Limited earth minerals
REERARA Fi HEk - 17 - 100 AR
“EFNE-AZ1=H B
Silver Mile Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary = HKS! = 100 Not yet
Limited 23 January 2008 commenced
business

AR A0 [ B 2 W) R A AL AR 4F 4 B4R
TRAE AT g ] Rp R 28 2 AR S A 0

ZRF )

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at
the end of the year or within any time during the year.
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A e B

HEEZT)NE+ZH=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

22. #1% 22. INVENTORIES
a) fFEEE: a) Inventories comprise:
A AR

The Group
“RENE L
2008 2007
T#rx T
HKS$’000 HK3$’000
JE A R Raw materials 48,088 37,397
TE B Work in progress 99,905 88,800
FE A Finished goods 160,844 170,057
308,837 296,254

b) ER GBS AR R AT b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as
T 8 an expense is as follows:
AL M

The Group
“RENE CFLRLE
2008 2007
T#rx T
HKS$’000 HK3$°000
EEFEZIRM(E  Carrying amount of inventories sold 978,052 921,317
A7 B Hcs Write down of inventories 37,551 9,915

1,015,603 931,232
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WA R 5 E

BE_ZF/NEL A=+ —HILFERE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

23. MEWCHR sk B I fib MOk ~ TR AT
K B4

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

AL A4
The Group The Company
“ERENE TTEE ZEFNE —TTLF
2008 2007 2008 2007

T#x Ti#or T#xL T#or
HK$°000  HK$'000  HKS$’000  HKS$'000

FEMSRK (K5 (b)) Trade receivables (note (b)) 402,751 379,605 = =
HAth JE i 2K Other receivables 9,268 2,018 621 -
B B R IR Loans and receivables 412,019 381,623 621 -
TE AT 3 KA 4 Prepayments and deposits 70,042 102,763 656 565

482,061 484,386 1,277 565
s Note:

(a)  BRTEATERIE LA 4241 - A BRSO R B H
At R S SR TR A T — 4 R i ] o

(b) TEURKZ IREE AT AT

(a)  All of the trade and other receivables, apart from prepayments and
deposits, are expected to be recovered within one year.

(b)  The ageing analysis of the trade receivables is as follows:

AL

The Group
ZRENE ZRELAE
2008 2007
T#r Ti#oT
HKS$’000 HKS$000
B 2 6 {18 H AR Current to less than 6 months 324,764 368,277
6 H 2 14E AN 6 months to less than | year 82,510 9,212
1 & 24 AN 1 to less than 2 years 17,603 4,232
24ERL E Over 2 years 4,840 5,865
429,717 387,586

B EUCHR K Less: Impairment loss on

WAERE R (B EE (o) trade receivables (note (c)) (26,966) (7,981)
402,751 379,605

MR L ERARAR  FBR)\ER




23. MEWCHR sk B I fib Mok ~ TR AT
oK B 3% 4 (41)

WEEE - (7H)

(c)

ALEEGTHESEF 304180 HZ V1
fEEH -

A4 B (5 FLHA R4l 2 5 19 B IBORE ) B Ak
TERRARAZ th o A SR I T A % il e fs &
FRAE - T TEAS G2 S AN B 2 HEVE R 7
AT AR S FERRAR o B S AT AR A A
R BB 2 S5 L Bl S AT - BT
P A 2 MBSO RS BR A R [ o

JRE WSR3 B (L

JRE s R i e At FRE k(A 4 2 4 ) 2
Tz

I

Notes to the Financial Statements

AR TR N T

BE_ZZNFE+_A=1—HILFEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(c)

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 180 days to its trade
customers.

Credit is offered to customers following an assessment of their financial
abilities and payment track record. Credit limits are set out for all
customers and these can be exceeded only with the approval of senior
officers of the Group. Business with customers considered to have
credit risk is conducted on a cash basis. Staff monitors overdue trade
receivables, and follow up collections.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The movement of impairment loss on trade and other receivables are as
follows:

A
The Group
ZRENE CEELE
2008 2007
T Fi#Eoc
HKS$’000 HKS$°000
w—H—H At 1 January 9,246 7,940
AR B B USRS R At Write back of impairment loss on trade
JHRE WS Dok (M 4L 4 [ and other receivables during the year (4,224) (1,031)
AR B ERE 2 B Impairment loss on trade and
MR B HL A B s other receivables recognised
VERIEN 2kiz! during the year 22,089 1,772
[ 58, 76 L Exchange differences 1,124 565
W+ H=+—H At 31 December 28,235 9,246

B WS R 2 HE A R SR 2 e 4R B 1
MRS AR - BRI A 42 B8 A 2 s IR 2 i ]
PERCRHA > FERZAEULT - Ik (E s 4R 7
A WS R R B H A JRE W L T (SRR RE
2(h)(@))

A WS BR H Ath  R3 (E es  495 ] 5 A
I . 95 0 R Wi M 5 L At B iz 2 AR
B 22 T IE P o AR T AR BT E AR i 2 1 AR
] R I 2 e A A RE T AR ]

MoEENEF A= —H > AEERS
#28,235,000 ¥ ¢ ( —FZE 419,246,000
T T ) B WA RR R T A FRE Wiz 18 71 78 2 £
TRAE G B 1F 2 BB o 5% 55 18 7l Vol (P8
WA By A A5 S LR 1A i R 2 B 4
Wi B A B 755 TR 5 ) 2 R o PRI - 2R R
5 FIl ME £ 22,089,000 9 T ( W F T L 4F
1,772,000 ¥ 70) B T LATERR o 4% 45 [ 3t 4%
% S S R R A AT AT

Impairment losses in respect of trade and other receivables are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery
of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off
against trade and other receivables directly (see note 2(h)(i)).

Write back of impairment loss on trade and other receivables represents
the recovery of the consideration received in relation to the impaired trade
and other receivables. An allowance for non-recoverable amount that had
been made in previous year was written back accordingly.

As at 31 December 2008, trade and other receivables of the Group
amounting to HK$28,235,000 (2007: HK$9,246,000) were individually
determined to be impaired and full provision had been made. These
individually impaired receivables had been outstanding for over 1 year
as at the balance sheet date or were due from companies with financial
difficulties. Accordingly, specific allowances for doubtful debts of
HK$22,089,000 (2007: HK$1,772,000) were recognised. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances.
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WA R 5 E

BE_ZF/NEL A=+ —HILFERE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

23. MEWCHR Ak B 3 4 M ek ~ AT
YA
Fff5E o (4F)
(c) MR ATHR R S H At B A R Bk (L ()
2 A [ AR ) 788 A % A5 B AR R S L A
WO A o 3R U (P 5 R 2 R R L5 A
£mh
= 5 N T fife B2 K A S IR 5% 5
= TS B R 2 T ] 5
- A5 N IR 468 35 2 8 D IR i 1 3 Y
BB B A2 ] 1) fE B AN AR R
HAth RF A &% 58 2 BFR 5

— AN AT B R R AT L A B
BWEM K

- F DUl A% - i el D WEUOR e
RS > (B4 % LR BUR S A 5155
N Z Al AR ACB 4 i B i Bl
2 A B A

- RPN AR UL
BARASES) 5 K

— BRACSR I R R A At
WKt A R 2 SEHIR L @

(d) MM IE(E 2 R K

NG SHA1 F] SH [F)A0 28 6F eh) BE  (EL 2 ME AR

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
Note: (Continued)

(c)  Impairment of trade and other receivables (Continued)

The factors which the Group considered in determining whether these

trade and other receivables were individually impaired include the

following:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- receivables that have been outstanding for a certain period;

- the Group granting to the debtor, for economic or legal reasons
relating to the debtor’s financial difficulty, a concession that the

Group would not otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; and

- observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows from the debtor since their
initial recognition, although the decrease cannot yet be identified

including:

- adverse changes in the payment status of debtors of the
Group; and

- economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the trade
and other receivables of the Group.

(d)  Trade receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually nor

K MRES TR collectively considered to be impaired are as follows:
A

The Group
ZRENE ZEELAE
2008 2007
F#x TFior
HKS$’000 HKS$’000
FSiiuIER ST Neither past due nor impaired 298,554 341,867
w DY 6 11 H Less than 6 months past due 101,198 32,236
s ) # 6 fi H {H DA 1 4 More than 6 months but less than 1 year past due 2,999 4,079
A 1 4 {H/ DA 24F  More than 1 year but less than 2 years past due - 1,423
B R Gl(ER STAIEN Past due but not impaired 104,197 37,738
S AE AR R Not impaired total 402,751 379,605

R ) HL R B B 2 ME AR IR T B2 4% 0 )
WAL EF AR -

MR L ERARAR  FBR)\ER

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide range
of customers for whom there was no recent history of default.



23.

24.

25.

JEE OB ik e Ui Wk > LA 23.
K R IR A )

(d) 0GR (2 HEMSOHR K ()

A8 39 LR 3 (2 R Ak T B 25 4% LA 4
R AP TEAGL B 2 W& A B o %
TR AR ASER - A ELEANS > R ERER
SRl o BB RO A R A A R J
i o A5 B S M R 22 46 4 B 4 A T AT

(=]
HE

REBe,” (REAH) B A R R#EH 24,
K

JEWT, (REAT) B I 2 W] e 2 2 3RUH
PSSR R EOR RRE R -

TG ST A2k ~ 32 RUR aRAT 25.
& Bk B 52 91 AT A7

RoFFAE A= R B
FVATAF 3K 2 T 460
SR -

|

Notes to the Financial Statements
A e B

BE_ZZNFE+_A=1—HILFEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

(d)  Trade receivables that are not impaired (Continued)

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered
fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES
AND DIRECTORS

Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries and directors are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED
BANK BALANCES AND FIXED BANK
DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2008, the pledged bank deposits, restricted
bank balances and fixed bank deposits are as follows:

A4 AR
The Group The Company
TRENE TR EE CRENE TR LE
2008 2007 2008 2007

T#x T#or R 2 T#oC
HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$’000  HKS'000

CARTERAIT AR 3K Pledged bank deposits
(FfF5E (a)) (note (a)) 134,797 99,790 42,270 99,790
Z BRI SRAT 45 Bk Restricted bank balances
(BfF5E (b)) (note (b)) 26,987 214 - -
& HASRAT A7 3K Fixed bank deposits
(FfF5E (a)) (note (a)) - 25,000 - 25,000
161,784 125,004 42,270 124,790
W BPHER A Less: Current portion (124,106) (100,004) (27,270) (99,790)
IF B HAFS 45y Non-current portion 37,678 25,000 15,000 25,000
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BE_ZZ/FETZH=1T—HILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

25. CIKMEATAR K - BRI RAT

a) MOZENF+_H=1+—H:
EL KRR AT 73K 112,297,000 I
(T EZEALAE 99,790,000 % T )
16 R LB T A SR 1) 2 SRAT HE K
AR T 8RAT 2 A7 3K o 75T kiR
] FE A Z2.54% (BE-EAF
4.73%) 5HE o £ N B HCATERTT A7
422,500,000 #500 (—FE L4
T I0) Mo BERATAE 3 E W o0
(. ZEALAE 25,000,000 % 50)
o B e Ak > BRI R 2
SRR TAMNE R B H 2
e 8

b) MOFENER FEFELES
H="4—H > ZIRHIRITE RS
SATEL A T &P KA R 31T
15 J1 78 i B B B il 2 R AT &5
ik > DL 2 K R 3 ER AT &
AR B AR SRAT A7 3 2 B 3258
FE > 4 Bl 4 %4,309,000 # oG
(= ZFELAE 214,000 00) &
22,678,000 #57T (—FE L &
HETT) o 2 BRI SR AT &5 BRI A 5
H 2385 SE AR T LA IR » Z R
Tl #RAT 45 SR 4% T 5 M R G AT
211% % 3.71% (—BELF
0.02% £ 5.30%) 518 -

o) ALMEMERS - AN IRE
{E B AP EARA -

110 MR L ERARAR  FBR)\ER

25. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED
BANK BALANCES AND FIXED BANK
DEPOSITS (Continued)

a)

b)

)

At 31 December 2008, pledged bank deposits of
HKS$112,297,000 (2007: HKS$99,790,000) represent
deposits pledged to banks to secure bank borrowings
granted to the Group. The deposits carry fixed interest
rate at 2.54% (2007: 4.73%) per annum. The remaining
pledged bank deposits of HKS$22,500,000 (2007:
HKS$Nil) and fixed bank deposits of HKS$Nil (2007:
HK$25,000,000) represent currency linked deposits
where the amounts of interest receivables are linked to
the exchange rates of a basket of foreign currencies on
the maturity dates.

At 31 December 2008 and 2007, restricted bank balances
represent deposits required and restricted by banks in
respect of the issue of letter of credit to certain customers
and suppliers, and the financial covenant requirement
to maintain minimum bank deposit for unsecured long-
term bank borrowing amounting to HKS$4,309,000
(2007: HK$214,000) and HK$22,678,000 (2007:
HKS$Nil) respectively. The restricted bank balances
will be released upon the completion of the respective
transactions. The restricted bank balances carry interest
at market rates which range from 2.11% to 3.71% (2007:
0.02% to 5.30%) per annum.

The management of the Group considers that the carrying
amount of deposits approximates their fair value.
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BABS R T
BETE/\ET A= LR
For the year ended 31 December 2008

26. B RBE&5HXEH 26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
A AR ¥ |
The Group The Company
“RENE BT LFE CRBNE EFTLF
2008 2007 2008 2007

T#x T#r T#x T#T
HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS$'000

AT 2K Deposits with banks 149,750 - 149,750 -
AT R FIZBE  Cashat bank and on hand 615,502 651,992 2,281 58,308
¥4 KBl 4% EEE Cash and cash equivalents 765,252 651,992 152,031 58,308
HE KRR EEEHERDQEARERFE Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group
2 B4 R BAT T B A 2 B 2 B B and short-term bank deposits with a maturity of three months
H B =8 H s AR 2 A 8B A7 773K o or less at prevailing market interest rates. At 31 December
MoEENE+A=+—H > EH 2008, the short-term bank deposits included a currency linked
SRATAT AL 5 & B4 4 17 2K 2,500,000 deposit of HK$2,500,000 (2007: HK$Nil) where the amounts
Wt (ZFFLAF - BWor) > HEIK of interest receivables are linked to the exchange rates of a
& 2 450 Ty B — 8 F 5 Wi 2 ) H basket of foreign currencies on maturity date. In the opinion of
2 M o RS > Bla KBE the directors, the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents
EHEH ZIRmEHEEERGETH 2 has no material difference from their fair value at the balance
AFAENG M E RS o sheet date.
27. KEAHIRK 27. TRADE PAYABLES
JEAT IR 2 BRER AT AR The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows:
A4
The Group
“RFNE —FEFLE
2008 2007

TH#E T
HKS$’000 HK$°000

Bz 6|l H AT Current to less than 6 months 104,530 51,129
6 H £ 15N 6 months to less than 1 year 6,854 6,098
1 524 1 to less than 2 years 3,329 2,907
24D E Over 2 years 1,476 1,979

116,189 62,113
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28. ST K

W E)NFH =+ —H o HEE

28. BANK BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2008, the bank borrowings are repayable

R BRATE AT as follows:
AL ARFH
The Group The Company
“RRNE ZTLFE CRFAE _FTRLE
2008 2007 2008 2007
T THT T#IL Tk
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000

IEANER TS Within 1 year or on demand 140,123 101,453 22,500 =

AR 2 4E A After 1 year but within 2 years 77,500 = 77,500 =

2HERESFERN After 2 years but within 5 years 77,500 - 77,500 -

AT R AR Total bank loans 295,123 101,453 177,500 -

M HRMAE S 2 Analysed for reporting

AU purposes as:
e BER Current liabilities 140,123 101,453 22,500 -
JETE & 1S Non-current liabilities 155,000 - 155,000 -
295,123 101,453 177,500 -

BT - Note:

(a) ALEIASATERUANRETHE > (a) All of the Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in RMB,
SRAT A K 164,561,000 # € ( —FF L A4F except for bank borrowings of HK$164,561,000 (2007: HKS$Nil) and
FHI0) & 22,500,000 5 70 (—FF L AFE HK$22,500,000 (2007: HK$Nil) denominated in United States dollars and
FWTT) 4 Bl ASE TC K s T RHE © HKS$ respectively.

(b)  FTA SRAT R By [ E R R AR > Wi AR A (b)  All bank borrowings are fixed-rate borrowings which carry prevailing
T 1.88%%6.5% (—EE LA #£5.83%) interest rates ranging from 1.88% to 6.5% (2007: at 5.83%) per annum.
ZAEFIZFEE o

(c) BRI R SR 1T B 3K 155,000,000 ¥ T (c)  Except for unsecured long-term bank borrowings of HK$155,000,000
(ZFFLAF - Flo) 4b o B FEATRR (2007: HKS$Nil), the remaining bank borrowings were secured
T4 LA B K SR AT A7 3R A 134,797,000 %5 IC by the pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$134,797,000
(= FERLAE £ 99,790,000 95 76 ) B ME i iR (2007: HKS$99,790,000) and trade receivables of approximately
N 4)10,672,000 6 76 ( R E-LAE - B HK$10,672,000 (2007: HK$Nil). As at 31 December 2008, the Group
J6) fEAEH o A BT NEFZH =+ — had undrawn banking facilities of approximately HK$90,000,000 (2007:
Ho> AEMMKRBERZBITEELNH HK$10,000,000). On 21 January 2009, the Group utilised the bank
90,000,000 #5 76 ( —EFZ L4 1 10,000,000 facilities by drawing down additional bank borrowings amounting to
WIL) o RZERENE-HA_+—H & US$10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$77,500,000).

AL T T ERATAE A SRIASMRAT R
{E10,000,000 5% JE (4R & #777,500,000 %
JG) ©

d) WEE_FZNET_A=T—HAREE (d)  In respect of the unsecured long-term bank borrowings with an aggregate
2 HR T A8 A5 /% 155,000,000 2 I 4E 47 = 1 carrying amount of HK$155,000,000 outstanding at 31 December 2008,
SATEAN T > AL EEATE T W% the Group is subject to the fulfillment of certain financial covenants, as
5 (— Mg mT % B i BRE AE T S 2 K 2 BE are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial institutions.
RFRE]) o i A 42 [ 2 e 3240 > HI 2 4R B If the Group were to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities
ZAR B R IR BRI o ARSI E I B would become payable on demand. The Group regularly monitors
HEZF RN Z G RHIFU - H B4 S 7 its compliance with these covenants. Further details of the Group’s
) < R B 2 A — 25 R O B s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 35 (b).

35(b) ©
(e) TS > AT MR BRLAB 55 i &5 (e) In the opinion of the directors, the carrying amounts of bank borrowings

FHZ A SRR -

112 MR L ERARAR  FBR)\ER

are not significantly different from their fair values at the balance sheet
date.
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AR TR N T

HEEZT)NE+ZH=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

29. AEETEAEAMBZ B 29. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

a)

BALANCE SHEET

ARG B P AR TERR 2 A BT a) Current income tax recognised in the consolidated
5ot BRLAF R 2 SE B 40T balance sheet and the movement during the year are as
follows:

A4

The Grou
“EENE BT LE
2008 2007

T#x T#or
HK$°000  HKS$'000

o I 1 3 T A5 i PRC EIT
Hw—HA—H At 1 January 27,622 19,254
s s o ) 2 ) Acquisition of subsidiaries
(B 3% 34(a) M2 (b)) (note 34(a) & (b)) 9,712
AAE BEREAR (M 5E 8(a)) Provision for the year (note 8(a)) 55,758 97,054
AR YA 2 A58 EIT paid for the year (111,170) (90,225)
REE 58, 75 %H Exchange differences ) 1,539
mwt+—_H=+—H At 31 December (18,087) 27,622
A4
The Group
“RFNE FFLE
2008 2007
T#x T T
HKS$’000 HK3$°000
RNEEABEAMAR Income tax recoverable recognised
TERR 2 0] Ui v A58 in the consolidated balance sheet (27,799) =
REEAEREAMER Income tax payable recognised in the
HERR 2 HEASS B 4550 consolidated balance sheet 9,712 27,622
(FIinl) /JEA 2 B TE 4 Net tax (recoverable)/payable (18,087) 27,622
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29. BT EAEAMBZ B 29. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

(45) BALANCE SHEET (Continued)
b) B2 M A AR e A b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

A H AR S AR R The major components of the deferred tax assets/
ZIERBIESE (A1) 2T E (liabilities) provided for at the balance sheet date and for
R the year then ended are as follows:

ERREAT
who wE MR i
ABT  REz  bEEAZ  MEEEZ
WA MPHEE O ATEEE O ATHAEE  EERX it
Fair value
adjustment on
Fair value  prepaid lease
Revaluation ~ adjustment  payments on Fair value
of buildings ~ onproperty. ~ landunder  adjustment
held for plant and operating  on intangible Deferred
0w use equipment leases assets  expenditure Total
T#r T#r T#r Ti#r Ti#r Ti#x
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS$000 HKS§000 HKS 000
WPAAHREZBERE :  Deferred tax arising from:
REFZLE-A-0- At 1 January 2007,

“EELEFZAST=H 31 December 2007 and

REZENE=]—H [ January 2008 - - - - - -
1N Acquisition of subsidiaries

(7 34(a) &t (b)) (note 34(a) & (b)) - (1312) 15,118 (94,565) 3354 (77405)
FtiaI Charged to reserves (10,146) - - - - (10,146)
ARG Credited to income statement

(3t 8(a)) (note 8(a)) - - - - 1,902 1,902
EiER Exchange differences (314) = - - 58 (256)
REZZAEFZA=4—H  At31 December 2008 (10,460) (1,312) 15,118 (94,565) 5314 (85,905)

114 MR L ERARAR  FBR)\ER
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AR TR N T

HEEZT)NE+ZH=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2008

29. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
BALANCE SHEET (Continued)

b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
(Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances

FEF TE 45 B0 M for financial reporting purposes:
“EFNE —FTETLE
2008 2007
T#x TT
HKS$’000 HK3$°000
WA EREAMER Deferred tax assets recognised in
TR 2 % 90 i Ve s the consolidated balance sheet 20,432 -
&R %f?:% &3 Deferred tax liabilities recognised
TR > B S i VA 4 i in the consolidated balance sheet (106,337) —
(85,905) -

©) PR ZIELE B A

HRIETEE 2(0) BTk 2 & TEUR >
A A [ 5N A Ak A BT N AR
H‘+~Hz§ﬁﬁ%%@
12,291,000 # 76 ( — F & £ 4 -
1,990,000 i JG ) i 7% Lﬁjmﬁﬁ
FE > IR A% A A B BLHS wl A [ 1
BB R K AT RS A AT A 2 B
B DA A 2 e SR B s

¢) Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note
2(0), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses of HK$12,291,000
(2007: HKS$1,990,000) as at 31 December 2008 as it is
not probable that future taxable profits against which the
tax losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant
tax jurisdiction and entity.

Annual Report 2008 China Rare Earth Holdings Limited

115



4

Notes to the Financial Statements

PARS R M

CER S NS Y NI

For the year ended 31 December 2008

30. JBeAS B fiti 30. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
a) filifl — AN S a) Reserves — The Group
Tt Yk 5 e Rk 1) 3]
il Bl A i L1 L1 il i
Buildings
Share  Capital revaluation ~ Statutory  Dividend Translation  Retained
premium  reserve  reserve  reserves  reserve  reserve profits Total
Tér  Tér  THr  TEr  TEr TEr TEr TEx
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
REZZFLE-A—H At 1 January 2007 1,152,531 0348 - 89,980 56,846 02,490 690324 2074519
ERMERREAZERER  Bxchange difference directly
recognised in equity - - - - - 81,071 - 81,071
AERA Profit for the year = = = - - - 205045 095,045
REERA NG Total recognised income and
expenses for the year - - - - - 81,071 295,045 376,116
AREE TR Appropriations to statutory reserves - - - uM = - (1) -
HERE (M 13) Dividend set aside (note 13) = = = - 71,057 - (T087) -
BR-ZZAEAMES  Final dividend paid for 2006 - - = - (56840) - - (56840)
BR-ZZLERMEE Interim dividend paid for 2007 = = = - (41 - - (41
BEZZLEFTZA=F—H  At31 December 2007 and
REFRNE-R—H 1 January 2008 1,152,531 20348 - 117962 56846 143561 886330 2379578
ERMERTEAZEREE  Bxchange difference directly
recognised in equity - - - - - 134908 - 134908
MEERZ BT ERRR Surplus on revaluation of buildings
held for own use - - 39,728 - - - 39,728
HIEARZBFERMELHE  Deferred tax on revaluation of
buildings held for own use = = (9,932) = = = (9.932)
HKEEER Loss for the year - - - - - (170972)  (170,972)
REETER W Total recognised income and
expenses for the year - - 29,796 - - 134908 (170972) (6,268)
NEEERE Appropriations to statutory reserves - - - 20,345 - (20,343) -
HERE (13 Dividend set aside (note 13) - - - - (14211) =
ER-ZELEAMRE  Final dividend paid for 2007 = = = - (56840) - (56840)
ER-ZEAETSRE  Interim dividend paid for 2008 = = = - (4 - (14
REFEAFTZAZ1—H  At31 December 2008 1,152,331 0348 2979 138307 - 118469 680,802 2,302,283
116 R L ERARAT  2R)\ER
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30. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

fifi i — A A+ b) Reserves — The Company
BB,/
JBe i i BB (RibiEs) HEi
Retained
profits/
Share Dividend (accumulated
premium reserve losses) Total
T FiboL Tk FITL
HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$’000 HK$000
HoEELE~A—H At 1 January 2007 1,302,481 56,846 (64,036) 1,295,291
AR B A Profit for the year = = 156,087 156,087
EERE (5 13) Dividend set aside (note 13) - 71,057 (71,057) =
Eff ST ARERNIBE Final dividend paid for 2006 = (56,846) = (56,846)
B =EZLER R Interim dividend paid for 2007 = (14,211) - (14.211)
RE-EZELHEFH=+—H At31 December 2007 and
BoEZENE—A—H 1 January 2008 1,302,481 56,846 20,994 1,380,321
AEREER Loss for the year = - (12,710) (12,710
HERBE (5 13) Dividend set aside (note 13) = 14,211 (14,211) -
B ZFZLERBRE Final dividend paid for 2007 - (56,846) = (56,846)
EA=FF /PR Interim dividend paid for 2008 = (14,211) = (14,211)
ANFZENEFTHZ1+—H At 31 December 2008 1,302,481 = (5927) 1,296,554
Vs B AT R ¢) Authorised and issued share capital
R RART
The Group and the Company
“ER0\E “ERLE
2008 2007
o H kol g (] B
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
TR F#L TH T
000 HES000 000 HKS$ 000
e — 0. 107 Authorised - Ordinary
2B shares of HK$0.10 each
R=A—HR+ZA=1+—H At 1 January and 31 December 2,000,000 200,000 2,000,000 200,000
CET AR — B (E Issued and fully paid - Ordinary
0.10 {782 & i shares of HK$0.10 each
W=H—HRk+=HA=+—H  AtlJanuaryand 31 December 1,421,143 142,114 1,421,143 142,114
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30. JBEAS Ko fiti i (4

d) PR K H Y

i)

ii)

iii)

iv)

o B A PR W

e i dit 06

REHSHLE QAR
(= UINFEBETA) > B
73t (M AT 20 IR T AR 4 )
P - A B B 0 R A
BZ MK - ARr A RE
JI F SRS R R
BIHMERS -

Bt

Aot 5 5 A 41 1 T I 4
B E EAL Z IR %
SE T 2 B o

B E At

T EAG AR
FH(F1BR A A8 Bl IH ) B A
AT 2 SR (E & 2 28
o T EMMEC TR0
M ARBRR 5E 2(e) A BIE B
AT 2 Gt BUR T D&
H o

5 RE a5

DR B i P 2 E AR
JIAREEA B 2 v R A 2 A
11 A AR 2 ) i v B B 2
W} )& &\ 2 4w B AR A
o MRS A B 2
e -

R NTE 0T A R A A
AR R (A7) S ]
W EBEAR > W%
W% 2 B E AR SRR
RO e S A 2 25% -

ZRF )

30. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

d)

Nature and purpose of reserves

D

ii)

iii)

iv)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (1998 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, the share premium account is
distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the aggregate
appropriations to the statutory reserves made by the
Group as a result of Group reorganisation.

Buildings revaluation reserve

The buildings revaluation reserve comprises the
difference between the revalued amount, net of
deferred tax, and the carrying amount of buildings
held for own use. The buildings revaluation reserve
has been set up and is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies adopted for buildings held
for own use in note 2(e).

Statutory reserves

Transfers from retained profits to statutory reserves
were made in accordance with the relevant PRC
rules and regulations and the articles of association
of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC and were approved by the respective boards of
directors.

Statutory reserves can be used to make good
previous years’ losses, if any, and may be converted
into paid-up capital provided that the balance of the
statutory reserves after such conversion is not less
than 25% of their registered capital.
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d)

e)

i fi 2 PR B H Y (4
iv) EEM ()

AN T R B 2 A
A B A1 PR 1) i AT
e e v o] R ) B K6
fEE 2 AR 2 10% > H 27
s REEEmEER2
50% 24 1k o AF 2 TR
Il R 2 R A AN IR B, 22 i
AT -

v) B S5 i i
T . 5 8 0455 IR 5008 35 A 468

BRED BRI EE 2
JIi A BEE S8 ZE 3 o Az fefi it J9 AR

PRI EE 2(r) Bl 2 & 5T BOR
FLURHE o
BAE

AEEMEMEAZ TEAETIR
o A SRR A A8 2 BB DA
R 2R [0 i R e At PR RO i
A AR AL 2 EA L LU D B
B

A5 [ B R R S ) B e
HEZEM > UERTRRSK
IR 10 i B 7 fk AR AR L AT R 52 2
R B OR[> 3l
IR B SR D < 58 ) ) T A S A
PR FARE o /A5 B B I A 4
> 7% 52 ) AT 9% o 8 A 1) S SR S
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30. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

d)

e)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
iv) Statutory reserves (Continued)

The Company’s certain subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to transfer a minimum of 10% of their net
profits, as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations to the statutory
reserves until the reserve balances reach 50% of the
registered capital. The transfer must be made before
distribution of dividends to equity holders.

v)  Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(r).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefit for other shareholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher stakeholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure
in light of changes in economic conditions. In order to
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue
new shares, return capital to shareholders or sell assets to
reduce debt.
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30. JBeAS B g i 4 30. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
e) EAI (A7) e) Capital management (Continued)
B S ) — B > AR ] DLEE Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its
A R B AR R o R capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
D)7 B 0 > AR AT R SR B 4 K B ratio is calculated as the Group’s bank borrowings less
S TE E DL EREZS S o cash and cash equivalents over its equity.
A AR ] 2 A 25 L > B The details of the debt to equity ratio of the Group are as
mF follows:
Bft “RBNE —FTLHF
Note 2008 2007
T#x T#T
HKS$’000 HKS$'000
SRAT R Bank borrowings 28 295,123 101,453
W B M A%(EIEHE Less: Cash and cash equivalents 26 (765,252) (651,992)
5 B4 Net cash (470,129) (550,539)
HE 25 40%E Total equity 2,473,529 2,549,924
AN Total capital 2,003,400 1,999,385
A R R H R Net debt to equity ratio AWHN/A  EHNA

MR L ERARAR  FBR)\ER
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31. & 31. COMMITMENTS
TGS H A [E 300 4 7 B 5 3R A At the balance sheet date, the Group had the following
1 Bl 2 ORI R commitments, so far as not provided for in the financial

statements, in respect of:

a) WEE N EEYE - BB M a) Capital commitments in respect of acquisition and
o Wb ff P RE 22 ARG construction of property, plant and equipment and land
use rights:
ARLEH
The Group
“RFNE —FFLEF
2008 2007

T#x T#C
HK$’000  HKS$'000

EF I ET 2 Contracted for but not provided 57,220 102,398
b) RIS AT < b R AR b) Operating lease commitments for future minimum lease
FHEE A H 4% T 28 84T 1) B AR AH 4 payments under non-cancellable operating leases in

AEARYEMNT respect of land and buildings which fall due as follows:

= |
The Group
“RENE T LHE
2008 2007

T#x Ti#or
HK$’000  HKS$'000

1 %A Within one year 1,413 1,432
B2 EE S In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,415 945
2,828 2,377
R TH B A kA A B2 B A TR Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
% TR ) SEREAT 2 4 o FHA AR Group for certain of its office and factory premises. Leases
BTRBER R E o PRI and rentals are negotiated and fixed for an average of three
years.
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32. Ji B A

A FFPUAENH M H BT 2 R A
FERE L AL AR E R R
— ULV A I R A B R
FEE (BT ) B bR A B P b et 2
([ Hrat#l]) -

HRPEHrwr & > 8 ] G B A SR
A Jor B R A% A B R 2 AR AR A
& B (GG A S &l B EL b &g s Al 2 8
H) -~ ARTRR - (EEN - FF - &
B - R A R A s T B
TE BT o B K B A 2 PR R 422 1
JERERR IS AS S R LA » BB S8 E
S A R A M 2 T B S A At
B o RO m A S A R S A IR i
185 78 T AR 0 T A RPN 2 BA T T AT ]
IRFFRIAT A > AN 15 0 208 45 Wi F M 32 1
HRE R4 2 ] > M ] 22 B st 1
TR AL o R IR IR > I
SRR I — 25 3 R IRORE - (R T
HoAth Ty i - BEFTE 2 SRR
T A 5% 46 1 F 4% 40 2 T A i A A
BRI F DIAT 6 - Al E %
FENBRZEEZLFET A= T—HIE
A4 > AR A6l A S TR o

I AL R EREE > A
DR B K H H AL B B A B Wi B
P A E B AR 2 A AL R R
B P ST A - DA B AS o ) A T
HEHPZREE ©

MR L ERARAR  FBR)\ER

32.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 4
June 2004, the shareholders of the Company approved the
termination of the Company’s share option scheme adopted
on 14 October 1999 (the “Old Scheme”) and the adoption of a
new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”).

Under the New Scheme, the directors may, at their discretion,
invite full-time employees of the Group, including directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries, any of its shareholders,
suppliers, customers, consultants, advisers and joint venture
partners or business alliance who have contributed or will
contribute to the Group to take up options to subscribe for
shares in the Company subject to the terms and conditions
stipulated therein. A nominal consideration will be paid by
the eligible participants for each lot of share options granted.
An option may be exercised at any time during a period to be
determined and identified by the directors to each grantee at
the time of making the offer, but in any event, shall not exceed
the period of ten years from the date of grant of the particular
option, subject to the early termination of the New Scheme.
Upon the termination of the Old Scheme, no further share
options were granted thereunder, but in all other respects, the
provisions of the Old Scheme remained in force and all share
options granted prior to such termination continued to be
valid and exercisable in accordance therewith. No option has
been granted by the Company during the two years ended 31
December 2008 and 2007.

The exercise price is determinable by the directors of the
Company, and should not be less than the highest of the
closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of offer, the
average closing price of the Company’s shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares.
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32. JkIBemE S (42) 32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

WEFF/E T A=+ Bk

Movements of share options for the year ended 31 December

JE R IRORE > S B a0 2008 are as follows:
TR H
Number of share options
REBENR REBENE
—~H—H 1 B
gilinM fitem fitem WAL L LALTiT Lkl WALTBE
Date of Exercisable Exercise  Outstanding at Granted Exercised Forfeited ~ Outstanding at
grant period price  1January2008  during the year  during the year  during the year 31 December 2008
“F%=
—A=ttH
Y SV e S
8 —A=+=H —AZ17H
Employee 23 January 27 January
2003 2003-26
January 2013 1.10 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000
BEFEZLE+ A =+—HILE Movements of share options for the year ended 31 December
JEZ WEIRCHESE B T 2007 are as follows:
iG]
Number of share options
REZTLE RoZELE
-8 ELE
Rihn frie it HRTTE g R i WATT
Date of Exercisable Exercise Outstanding at Granted Exercised Forfeited Outstanding at
grant period price 1 January 2007 during the year ~ during the year ~ during the year 31 December 2007
“Z%=
—RZTtH
“%%= ETIE S
T =1 R e V.
Employee 23 January 27 January
2003 2003-26
January 2013 110 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000

Annual Report 2008 China Rare Earth Holdings Limited



Notes to the Financial Statements
WA 3R B

WEFF N+ A S H IR
For the year ended 31 December 2008

32.

33.

o B A PR W

Y JB R it ) ()

A H > ARYEEE B H R AT
i 2 BERERE VS T 2 AN W By 30 E 2
1,500,000 f% ( —F &L 4F 1,500,000
JBE) 5 AN RZ H AN B E BT Ay 2
0.11% (= FELF :0.11%) - &5
FTE] o AT ] IRp A% AR BE AR 48 A IR Ao
T a4 2 W R HE NG AS T DR 9 AR
N E BT Z 10% ©

R+ = R AT
2 WEABEHEZ BT 2 4045 040 15 D
(CEFLF B o

BN 122 5

a) BUAMA L2255

Wik S 25 S o L At 3 403 P 2 5
b > RS > FNTIIALE

RAEHE 2 R AL
AL # B4R 1 2 Bl 1%
R TE AR ATESR

ST wRR AXFATESR
BHCARAR MR GEHA
(MEshizes|) M

i) THREAELN

HE FE/NEL A
——HILFEE s AREE
) A 45 (3] 42 A4 ) 36 T 1) o8
RE XMz EE ML A
238,000 7T (" FEE L4
223,000 i J0) o

ZRF )

32.

33.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

At the balance sheet date, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Old Scheme was 1,500,000 (2007: 1,500,000),
representing 0.11% (2007: 0.11%) of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date. The total number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the Old
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders.

The option outstanding at 31 December 2008 has remaining
contractual life of approximately 4 years (2007: 5 years).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

a) Transactions with related parties

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements, the directors consider that the following are
the significant related parties of the Group during the
year:

Name of party Relationship with the Group

Jiang Quanlong Executive director of

the Company

Wuxi Pan-Asia
Environmental

Jiang Quanlong,

an executive director
Protection of the Company,
Technologies Limited  have beneficial interest

(“Wuxi Pan-Asia”)
i)  Rental expenses to Jiang Quanlong

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the
Group paid rental expenses of approximately
HK$238,000 (2007: HK$223,000) to Jiang
Quanlong for providing premises to the Group.
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b)

c)
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

a)

b)

Transactions with related parties
ii) Rental expenses to Wuxi Pan-Asia

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the
Group paid rental expenses of approximately
HK$58,000 (2007: HK$55,000) to Wuxi Pan-Asia
for providing premises to the Group.

The directors are of the opinion that the above
transactions were entered into under the normal
course of business and on normal commercial terms
or in accordance with the agreements governing such
transactions, and this has been confirmed by independent
non-executive directors.

Transactions with key management personnel

Emoluments for key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed
in note 9 and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in note 10 are as follows:

A
The Group
“RENE L
2008 2007

T#x T#T
HK$°000  HKS$'000

FEART 4~ HERG Basic salaries, allowance

KB 48 A and benefits-in-kind
BREAFTF I Retirement benefits
scheme contributions

LB e N L 2 5 B

R EE AR FEELE |
A=1T—HHEEAN LR
A O B 5 24 -

<)

3,836 3,815
54 54
3,890 3,869

Balances with related parties

Details of the balances with related parties as at 31
December 2008 and 2007 are set out in note 24.

Annual Report 2008 China Rare Earth Holdings Limited

125



126

Notes to the Financial Statements
WA 3R B

WEFF N+ A S H IR
For the year ended 31 December 2008

34. WoluE BB A Wl

a)

o B A PR W

WO e A

W FEENFE+H ZFJUH
A B AN FI R 95% Mt
2 1142 Va8 2 ) ‘BT LS R A A
A BRA B (T 1) ) f8 s
55 = 7 WS I RO i 2 100% A
W 1R A AR ¥127,000,00070
(FH & 1 # 144,007,000 % T ) >
DL 4 524 o v Fi L e B AR
SR R SR - B A o UL
N RN =R S N

R4 BT R O S B
818 A ¥ 100,000,000 7T ( 41
R #113,391,000% 75 ) ([ 3
16 B & A 1) KR At B 4 AE
A 27,000,000 7T (F1 % A )
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

a)

Acquisition of Dongye Rare Earth

On 29 December 2008, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest in Dongye Rare Earth, through Yixing Xinwei
Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited (“Xinwei
Rare Earth”), a 95% indirectly owned subsidiary of
the Company, from independent third parties for a
consideration of RMB127,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HKS$144,007,000), satisfied by cash.
Dongye Rare Earth is engaged in manufacturing and sales
of rare earth metal products in the PRC. This acquisition
has been accounted for by the purchase method of
accounting.

In accordance with the sales and purchase agreement,
the consideration comprised a cash consideration
of RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$113,391,000) (“Dongye Cash Consideration”)
and a deferred cash consideration of RMB27,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$30,616,000) (“Dongye
Deferred Cash Consideration”). The acquisition of
Dongye Rare Earth was completed on 29 December
2008 with Dongye Cash Consideration being paid in full
upon completion. Dongye Deferred Cash Consideration
represented the consideration payable as at 31 December
2008 which is associated with financial performance
of Dongye Rare Earth for the year ended 31 December
2008.

Dongye Deferred Cash Consideration would be
equivalent to 5 times the net profits after taxation and
before extraordinary items as shown in the audited
financial statements of Dongye Rare Earth for the
year ended 31 December 2008 in accordance with the
PRC generally accepted accounting principles less
Dongye Cash Consideration. The maximum amount of
Dongye Deferred Cash Consideration shall not be more
than RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$45,357,000).

Dongye Deferred Cash Consideration is payable in cash
by cheque or by telegraphic transfer within 15 days after
the date of issue of the PRC audit report of Dongye Rare
Earth for the year ended 31 December 2008.
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

a) Acquisition of Dongye Rare Earth (Continued)

Details of the net assets acquired in respect of the
acquisition of Dongye Rare Earth are summarised below
and details of intangible assets acquired are set out in

note 19(c):
TR i
BOBOW A IR AP M
Acquiree’s
carrying amounts
immediately before Fair value Fair
combination  adjustments values
F#rx T#7x F#x
HKS$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000
LEN NG Property, plant and equipment 12,085 2,203 14,288
mEfEZ Prepaid lease payments on land under
WA A operating leases 16,101 (9,298) 6,803
W& E Intangible assets
~MtEBEMZ — Technical know-how for rare
HOTBE R earth metal products 756 115,069 115,825
Pty Inventories 2,268 - 2,268
e R Trade receivables 47,985 = 47,985
HFE LA Prepayments and deposits 227 = 227
RaeRRe%EER Cash and cash equivalents 250 = 250
TERHHRAR Trade payables (17,411) = (17,411)
AR A R A AT 3K Accruals and other payables (17,886) = (17,886)
JEABLIE Tax payable (2,142) = (2,142)
IR/ (A Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 776 (26,994) (26,218)
kA G E R B R Net identifiable assets and liabilities 43,009 80,980 123,989
W e Goodwill on acquisition 20,018
RAE Consideration 144,007
MBI AT Total consideration satisfied by:
Bl Cash 113,391
AL AT {E Deferred consideration payable as
(REREEARR classified under current liabilities
Bl A A1) in the consolidated balance sheet 30,616
144,007

i A 2 B

ERHENE

Fripfs e Ble kBl eFEEA

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

Cash consideration paid 113,391
Cash and cash equivalents acquired (250)
113,141
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

a)

Acquisition of Dongye Rare Earth (Continued)

The above subsidiary acquired during the year had no
significant contribution to the Group’s result.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2008,
the Group’s total revenue for the year would have been
HK$1,503,132,000 and loss for the year would have
been HK$157,791,000. The proforma information is
for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2008, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of Dongye
Rare Earth is attributable to the anticipated profitability
generated from synergy and future market development
from vertical integration of downstream rare earth
business. Dongye Rare Earth has experienced management,
key personnel, marketing and technical staff who enable
efficient operation of the Group. The benefit from these
factors are not recognised separately from goodwill as
the future economic benefits arising from them cannot be
reliably measured.
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

b)

Acquisition of Xinghua Rare Earth

On 31 December 2008, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest in Xinghua Rare Earth, through Xinwei Rare
Earth, from independent third parties for a consideration
of RMB210,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$238,122,000), satisfied by cash. Xinghua Rare
Earth is engaged in manufacturing and sales of rare earth
minerals in the PRC. This acquisition has been accounted
for by the purchase method of accounting.

In accordance with the sales and purchase agreement,
the consideration comprised a cash consideration
of RMB135,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$153,079,000) (“Xinghua Cash Consideration”) and a
deferred cash consideration RMB75,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$85,043,000) (“Xinghua Deferred
Cash Consideration”). The acquisition of Xinghua Rare
Earth was completed on 31 December 2008 with Xinghua
Cash Consideration being paid in full upon completion.
Xinghua Deferred Cash Consideration represented the
consideration payable as at 31 December 2008 which is
associated with financial performance of Xinghua Rare
Earth for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Xinghua Deferred Cash Consideration would be
equivalent to 5 times net profit after taxation and
before extraordinary items as shown in the audited
financial statements of Xinghua Rare Earth for the
year ended 31 December 2008 in accordance with the
PRC generally accepted accounting principles, less
Xinghua Cash Consideration. The maximum amount
of Xinghua Deferred Cash Consideration shall not be
more than RMB75,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$85,043,000).

Xinghua Deferred Cash Consideration is payable in cash
by cheque or by telegraphic transfer within 15 days after
the date of issue of the PRC audit report of Xinghua Rare
Earth for the year ended 31 December 2008.
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34. Wk HHE A H (a0) 34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
b)  WORBUER A+ (4) b) Acquisition of Xinghua Rare Earth (Continued)
Aol Wi L e s L AR 2 B R Details of the net assets acquired in respect of the
= L T 2 acquisition of Xinghua Rare Earth are summarised below
JE & B 2 w1 RIS A B 5F 19(a) and details of intangible assets acquired are set out in
J19(b) : note 19(a) and 19(b):
ﬁ?%ﬁﬁﬁ
BOBOREA ) IR A TR AV
Acquiree’s
carrying amounts
immediately before Fair value Fair
combination  adjustments values
T#7 T#r T#r
HKS'000 ___HKS'000 ___HKS'000
W ~ s Rt Property, plant and equipment 25,549 3,046 28,595
HafEzEM s Prepaid lease payments on land under
operating leases 78,388 (51,174) 27,214
UG Intangible assets
— i LR B R R R — Exclusive right to purchase
rare earth minerals - 201,502 201,502
—Fi LIRS R il - Technical know-how for preliminary
ERI separation of rare earth minerals - 61,687 61,687
- 263,189 263,189
& Inventories 12,879 = 12,879
JRE SR 2 B H A sk Trade and other receivables 27,086 = 27,086
AT R R 4 Prepayments and deposits 15,958 = 15,958
R4 LB % ERE Cash and cash equivalents 132 = 132
JEfT IR Trade payables (1,440) - (1,440)
AR 2 ] % H At e A5 2 Accruals and other payables (142,559) = (142,559)
JE (L IE Tax payable (1,570) = (7,570)
IRERIERE /(A Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 2,578 (53,765) (51,187)
T B MR R Net identifiable assets and liabilities 11,001 161,296 172,297
W 2 Goodwill on acquisition 65,825
RE Consideration 238,122
ARV IR Total consideration satisfied by:
e Cash 153,079
AL IEAT A AE Deferred consideration payable as classified
(ff’:\\?ff:% BEARR under current liabilities in consolidated
B By i £ &) balance sheet 85,043
238,122
W A 2 B VAR Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
BB ARE Cash consideration paid 153,079
fig 2 B4 LB &%EMEE  Cash and cash equivalents acquired (132)
152,947

MR L ERARAR  FBR)\ER
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

b)

Acquisition of Xinghua Rare Earth (Continued)

The above subsidiary acquired during the year had no
significant contribution to the Group’s result.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2008,
the Group’s total revenue for the year would have been
HK$1,541,621,000 and loss for the year would have
been HK$173,730,000. The proforma information is
for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2008, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of Xinghua
Rare Earth is attributable to the anticipated profitability
generated from synergy through economies of
scale and sharing of resources, and future market
development through vertical integration of upstream
rare earth business. Xinghua Rare Earth has experienced
management, key personnel, marketing and technical
staff who enable efficient operation of the Group. The
benefit from these factors are not recognised separately
from goodwill as the future economic benefits arising
from them cannot be reliably measured.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include cash and
cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits, restricted bank
balances, fixed bank deposits, trade and other receivables,
trade and other payables and bank borrowings. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include credit
risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, fair
value, economic risk and business risk arises in the normal
course of the Group’s business.

a) Credit risk

)

ii)

As at 31 December 2008, the maximum exposure
to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount
of each financial asset in the consolidated balance
sheets after deducting any impairment allowance.

In respect of trade and other receivables, in order to
minimise risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial position and condition
is performed on each major customer periodically.
These evaluations focus on the customers’ past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customers as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customers
operate. The Group does not require collateral in
respect of its financial assets. Debts are usually due
within 180 days from the date of billing.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At
the balance sheet date, the Group has a certain
concentration of credit risk as 11.31% (2007:
12.69%) and 39.11% (2007: 58.26%) of the
total trade receivables was due from the Group’s
largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
and other receivables are set out in note 23.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

a)

b)

Credit risk (Continued)

iii) Cash is deposited with financial institutions with
sound credit ratings that are located where the group
companies are operated and the Group has exposure
limit to any single financial institution. Given their
high credit ratings, management does not expect any
of these financial institutions will fail to meet their
obligations.

iv) The maximum exposure to credit risk without
taking account of any collateral held is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the balance sheet after deducting any impairment
allowance.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject
to board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants to ensure
that it maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term. The Group relies on bank borrowings as
a source of liquidity.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following liquidity table set out the remaining contractual
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s and
the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the balance sheet date) and the earliest date the
Group and the Company is required to pay:

“ERE SRRt
2008 2007
“Ehg -ERE RENL AHAIE “Fg ENE ORENL AHEER
BERRR  WEMR RN REWNEE  MER REREE REMR DEMA RRNEME  Rak
Morethan ~ More than Total More than ~ More than Total
Within -~ Tyearbut ~ 2yearshut confractual Within -~ Tyearbut  2yearsbut contractual
LIyearor  lessthan  lessthan undisclosed ~ Carrying  lyearor  lessthn  lessthan undiscounted  Camying
ondemand ~ 2years  Syears  cashflow  amount ondemand D years Syears cashflow  amount
T T#r TEr  TEr TEr TéEr TEr TEr TEr TEr
HES000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HES'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
KM The Group
EftE Trade payables 116,189 - B (I (N I AV - - e
Efberts Other payables 9,445 - T N (X7 S ) - 1 X5 L )
EffEsm Amounts due to directors 667 - - 667 667 560 - - 560 560
Rt Bank borrowings 152210 §4,635 70598 3643 295123 103307 - - 103307 101453
EREBAAZ Deferred consideration
EHEE payables for acquisiton
of subsidiaries 115,659 - - 115659 115,689 - - - - -
54170 84,635 0598 018403 597083 19182 - - 018 189988
KR The Company
TR AR Amounts due to subsidiaries 255 - - 25 25 1) = = ) 1
EffEsm Amouns due to directors 7 - - 7 ) 76 - - 676 676
G Bank borrowings 1,605 84,635 79598 19838 177,300 - - - - -
3613 84,635 58 197846 178508 916 - - 916 916

MR L ERARAR  FBR)\ER
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

¢) Interest rate risk

The Group and the Company are exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to cash and cash equivalents,
pledged bank deposits, restricted bank balances, fixed bank
deposits and bank borrowings at floating interest rate.

i) FEAE i)  Interest rate profile
T R FEA RS AL ] AR The following table details the interest rate profile
AR SRAT B HON A5 5 H RS A of the Group’s and the Company’s bank borrowings
KA at the balance sheet date:
R KA
The Group The Company
RENE “ERLE “RENE “ERLE
2008 2007 2008 2007
{7k g {7k ke
Effective Effective Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate interest rate Interest rate
% T#r % FET % T#r %  T#T
%  HKS'000 %  HK$'000 %  HKS'000 %  HK$'000
e s Fixed rate
borrowings 1.88-6.50 295,123 5.83 101453 1.88-650 177,500 - -
kS S Variable rate
borrowings HHHINIA - MERNA - HMERNA - MERNA =
BTEHEH Total bank
borrowings 295,123 101,453 177,500 -
HEHREN Fixed rate borrowings
[hEsas as a percentage of total
MEM borrowings 100% 100% 100% AHFANA
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c) RIREBE ()
i) BREI

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

¢) Interest rate risk (Continued)

ii)  Sensitivity analysis
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All of the pledged bank deposits , restricted bank
balances, fixed bank deposits and bank borrowings
of the Group and the Company which are fixed rate
instruments are insensitive to any change in interest
rates. A change in interest rates at the balance sheet
date would not affect profit or loss.

At 31 December 2008, it is estimated that a general
increase or decrease of 50 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
decrease or increase the Group’s loss for the year
by approximately HKS$3,070,000 (2007: increase
or decrease the Group’s profit for the year by
approximately HKS$2,970,000). Other components
of consolidated equity would not change in response
to the general increase or decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the balance sheet date and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for
non-derivative financial instruments in existence
at that date. The 50 basis points increase or
decrease represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the next annual balance sheet date. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

d)

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate.

B £
Assets Liabilities

ZRRNE FEFLF CRRNE FFLFE

2008 2007 2008 2007

T T T T

000 000 000 000

I Hong Kong Dollar 90 58 - -
ESn United States Dollar 26,514 40,528 22,876 -

A S [ B IR S Sl S R B BRI
SN BORE o AR 4 [ D) B
SEONHE R B > A AE A 2
3B o B R B LR

RS

AR EAN R A S A 2
DI RE £ W SO B A B _E T K
R 5% IS B o R B AL i
BE 2 W] BE 5 ) A9 5 BERE AL - 5%
MR R A MR R E AR
R 9 T A1 B B ST R T 19 LG
o Jy R SO R IEH R R A
SR 2 DiRe &R LA B B R
5% I ik I B B4 o 28 R A 4R
Z I B LA B W THE 5%
5 > FIJ AT RE i ) A AR R 4 R AR
riv}-Z

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency debts. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant currency exposure
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% increase and decrease in the functional currency of
the Group against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% is
the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rate. A positive
number below indicates an increase in profit where
the functional currency of the Group weakening 5%
against the relevant currency. For 5% strengthens of the
functional currency of the Group against the relevant
currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the profit.
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35. VU e A BIL H B RO (4%

d) Wb (4 d) Currency risk (Continued)
EPEAHT (4) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
7 A B i ) B M 1
Profit and loss
for the year
ZRENAE ST LE
2008 2007
T#C T T
HK$000 HK3$°000
s G 2 Hong Kong Dollar impact 4 3
KL United States Dollar impact 1,415 2,026
e) AV e) Fair value
K4 & E KA R A P B The carrying amounts of significant financial assets and
HR = FBE)NE R - EELE liabilities approximate their respective fair values as at
+ = H=+—H/IREEAE - 31 December 2008 and 2007.
i) HELBESHEER - Bk i) Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
HR K B HAt UK ~ B 5 e receivables, trade and other payables
HAb ALK
A 5% 4 IH B R A E) The carrying values approximate their fair values
HA o bt I v BN because of the short maturity of these items.
B -
i)  SRATEK ii) Bank borrowings
MBS B3 B AH 5 1 SR The carrying amount of bank borrowings
TTEHBTEFRAFLE approximates their fair value based on the
SRAT LY R 1 (A B 7 borrowing rates currently available for bank
{EHA - borrowings with similar terms and maturities.
f) R f)  Economic risk
A AR [ 1) 2848 7T B A7 ) o B K The Group’s operations may be adversely affected by
Bf - SS9 AL a R E BRI R Y significant political, economic and social uncertainties in
ASFFE 2 o (45 Hh B BUR A 8 2% the PRC. Although the government of the PRC has been
2 AR — ELEAT A I UK > pursuing economic reform policies in the past years, no
4 0 O 6 P B A S A A R0 % assurance can be given that the PRC government will
SR BY % UK AS 6 85 AR H oK s continue to pursue such policies or that such policies may
) o not be significantly altered.
R ERARAE 2R\ ER

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

g¢) Business risk
A substantial portion of the Group’s operations is
conducted in the PRC. This includes risks associated

with, among others, the political, economic and legal
environment in the PRC.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures had been reclassified in
conformity to the presentation of the financial statements for
the year.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 24
April 2009.
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Financial Summary

S B R

BETHE1—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December

ZRBNE CERLE DERRAE CERRAE CRTE
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Fior FiBc Fi#or Fic F T
HKS$’000 HK$’000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$’000
BEHE Turnover 1,364,890 1,385,345 1,031,082 769,370 665,320
S BA Cost of sales (1,015,603)  (931,232)  (732,577)  (565,407)  (484,667)
T Gross profit 349,287 454,113 298,505 203,963 180,653
BRBIRG (B518) /  (Loss)/profit
Tt Al before taxation (118,551) 396,134 274,075 171,646 139,283
REG Income tax (53,856) (97,054) (62,384) (40,021) (17,973)
AR (BEH) / (Loss)/profit
Tt ] for the year (172,407) 299,080 211,691 131,625 121,310
MELL (518) / Attributable to:
it i -
AN R Equity shareholders
of the Company (170,972) 295,045 209,255 130,207 119,658
D B AR i Minority interests (1,435) 4,035 2,436 1,418 1,652
(172,407) 299,080 211,691 131,625 121,310
#+=H=+—H
As at 31 December
BN SERLE DEBRARE SERAE ZRTPE
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
T Fitor Fitr Fbor Fibr
HKS$’000 HK$’000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000 HK$’000
MENEE Current assets 1,713,801 1,536,144 1,384,641 765,202 684,317
FEviEh G E Non-current assets 1,500,535 1,262,120 1,080,770 828,762 743,019
Y AR Total assets 3,214,336 2,798,264 2465411 1,593,964 1,427,336
B A Current liabilities 479,470 248,340 227,454 145,249 107,660
FE Vi E) & Non-current liabilities 261,337 0 0 0 0
AR Total liabilities 740,807 248,340 227,454 145,249 107,660
G Net assets 2,473,529 2,549,924 2237957 1,448,715 1,319,676
[iF&N Share capital 142,114 142,114 142,114 98,695 98,695
fitiffs Reserves 2,302,253 2,379,578 2,074,519  17331,132 1,203,511
AN F BOR Equity attributable to equity
JREAE BE 45 shareholders of the Company 2,444,367 2,521,692 2,216,633 1,429,827 1,302,206
D B SROE 22 Minority interests 29,162 28,232 21,324 18,888 17,470
HE 46 A Total equity 2,473,529 2,549,924 2,237,957 1,448,715 1,319,676
RS LA A T BB
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